Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

3-23-2021 2:00 PM

Anxiety symptoms ten years after diagnosis of childhood-onset epilepsy: Prevalence and Correlates

Onyebuchi C. Omodon, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Speechley, Kathy N., *The University of Western Ontario*A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Epidemiology and Biostatistics
© Onyebuchi C. Omodon 2021

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Recommended Citation

Omodon, Onyebuchi C., "Anxiety symptoms ten years after diagnosis of childhood-onset epilepsy: Prevalence and Correlates" (2021). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 7707. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/7707

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Abstract

This study described anxiety symptoms in Adolescents and Young Adults (AYA) 10 years after epilepsy diagnosis and assessed the association between family characteristics and long-term anxiety symptoms controlling for parent, clinical and child demographic characteristics. Data were from a multi-centre prospective study of children with new-onset epilepsy. Ten years after diagnosis, 33% scored above the cut-off for clinically significant anxiety symptoms. The mean anxiety z-score was similar to previously reported in the US population of the same age and sex. Multiple linear regression analyses showed that family characteristics at the 10-year follow-up and at diagnosis were not independently associated with long term anxiety symptoms. Five-year seizure freedom was independently associated with long-term anxiety symptoms. These findings suggest that the long-term outcome for childhood-onset epilepsy in terms of anxiety symptoms is similar to normative population data and there is a subset of AYA experiencing anxiety symptoms that are worthy of attention.

Keywords: childhood epilepsy, anxiety symptoms, adolescents, young adults, family environment, longitudinal

Summary for Lay Audience

Anxiety symptoms are among the most common mental health symptoms experienced by children with epilepsy and contribute to poorer health-related quality of life. Current literature provides evidence that the family environment plays an important role in mitigating psychiatric symptoms such as anxiety symptoms in children and adolescents with epilepsy. Little is known, however, about the prevalence of anxiety in the long-term as those with childhood-onset epilepsy become adolescents and young adults (AYA). The aims of this thesis were: 1) To describe anxiety symptoms in AYA 10 years after epilepsy diagnosis and 2) to assess the association between family characteristics and anxiety symptoms 10 years after epilepsy diagnosis to identify potentially modifiable family characteristics early in the course of epilepsy. Data for this thesis were from a multicenter prospective cohort study that followed children with newly diagnosed epilepsy and their families for 10 years after diagnosis. The majority of AYA in our study did not experience elevated anxiety symptoms, but about one third reported experiencing anxiety symptoms 10 years after epilepsy diagnosis. AYA who had not been seizure-free for at least five years, were significantly more likely to experience elevated anxiety symptoms. These findings suggest that the long-term outcome for childhoodonset epilepsy in terms of anxiety symptoms is generally positive overall but a subgroup of these AYA with clinically significant anxiety symptoms warrant attention.

Acknowledgment

I want to thank my thesis supervisor, Dr Kathy Speechley, for the immeasurable support and mentorship far exceeding this thesis. I am very fortunate to have been under her supervision. Dr Speechley's constant reassurance and guidance throughout this journey has been beyond my imagination. The lessons I learned from her on all aspects, research and otherwise will stay with me for life. I also want to thank my supervisory committee, Dr Kelly Anderson and Dr Piotr Wilk for their patience and valuable feedback. I could not have asked for a more dedicated supervisory committee.

I would like to thank the HERQULES team members: Jane Terhaeart, Wenyi Huang,
Klajdi Puka, Dr. Guangyong Zou, and Dr. Shane Goodwin, for their immense dedication to this
project. I would also like to thank the HERQULES families, physicians, and staff for their
contributions to this project.

I would like to thank my family, especially my brothers, Jude and John Omodon, their love and belief that I could do this cannot be overestimated and for that I am forever grateful. My special thanks to my closest friends, their support and encouragement cannot be overvalued.

I would like to thank my colleagues at the Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics for their social support and encouragement. Finally, my sincerest gratitude to the entire Western University community that has played a huge role in my growth and evolution from an adolescent first year undergraduate student up till this point. I am forever purple and proud!

Table of Contents

Abstract	.ii
Summary for Lay Audience	iii
Acknowledgment	iv
Table of Contents	٠v
List of Tablesv	'iii
List of Appendices	ix
List of Abbreviations	.x
Introduction	1
1.1 Statement of the Problem	1
1.2 Study Objectives	2
Chapter 2	4
Background and Literature Review	4
2.1 Overview of Epilepsy	4
2.2 Anxiety in People with Epilepsy	7
2.2.1 Differentiating between Anxiety and Anxiety Symptoms	8
2.2.2 Prevalence of Anxiety Symptoms in Adolescents and Young Adults with Epilepsy	9
2.2.3 Bidirectional Relationship Between Anxiety and Epilepsy	L1
2.3 Impact of Family Environment and Parent Characteristics on Childhood Epilepsy	L3
2.4 Association Between Child Clinical and Demographic Characteristics and Anxiety Symptoms among Adolescents and Young Adults with Epilepsy	16
2.4.1 Severity of Seizures and Control of Seizures	16
2.4.2 Seizure Frequency and Freedom1	L7
2.4.3 Anti-seizure Medications 1	18
2.4.4 Type of Seizure	19
2.4.5 Child's Sex	
2.4.6 Child's Age	21
2.5 Limitations of Previous Studies	22
Methods2	24
3.1 Data Source and Sample	24

3.2 Measures	26
3.2.1 Outcome: Anxiety Symptoms	26
3.2.2 Exposure: Family Characteristics	27
Family Functioning.	27
Family Resources	28
Family Demands	28
3.2.3 Covariates: Parent Characteristics	29
Parental Depression	29
Parental Marital Status	29
Family Income	29
3.2.4: Covariates: Child Clinical and Demographic Characteristics	30
Severity of Epilepsy	30
Type of Seizure	31
Five-year Seizure Freedom	31
ASM Use	31
Cognitive and Behavioural Problems	32
Child's Age	33
Child's Sex	33
3.3 Statistical Analysis	33
3.3.1 Analyses to Address Objective 1	33
3.3.2 Analyses to Address Objective 2	34
3.3.3 Attrition Analysis	35
3.3.4 Missing Data	36
Results	37
4.1 Sample Characteristics	37
4.4 Results for Objective 1	40
4.5 Results for Objective 2	40
4.2 Attrition Analysis	43
Chapter 5	46
5.1 Summary of Findings	46
5.1.1 Objective#1	46

5.1.2 Objective#2	50
5.3 Limitations	52
5.4 Recommendation for Future Research	53
5.5 Implications and Conclusions	54

List of Tables

Table 1: Family, Parent, and Child Clinical and Demographic Characteristics at 10-year Follow-up
Table 2: Family, Parent, and Child Clinical and Demographic Characteristics at Diagnosis 39
Table 3: Bivariate and Multivariable Analyses of Anxiety Symptoms with Family, Parent, Child
Clinical and Demographic Characteristics at 10-year Follow-up
Table 4: Bivariate and Multivariable Analyses of Anxiety Symptoms with Family, Parent, Child
Clinical and Demographic Characteristics at Diagnosis
Table 5: Attrition Analysis

List of Appendices

Appendix	A: Physician Form	64
Appendix	B: AYA Report Measurement Tool	66
Appendix	C: Parent Report Measurement Tools	67
Appendix	D: Research Ethics Approval	73

List of Abbreviations

AYA- Ac	dolescent	s and '	Young	Adul	ts
---------	-----------	---------	-------	------	----

ASM- Antiseizure Medications

BECRS- Benign epilepsy of childhood with Rolandic spikes

BDI-Beck Depression Inventory

CDI- Children's Depression Inventory

CES-D- Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale

CWE- Children with Epilepsy

Family APGAR- Family Adaptability, Partnership, Growth, Affection and Resolve

FIRM-Family Inventory of Resources for Management

GASE-Global Assessment of Severity of Epilepsy

HRQoL- Health-Related Quality of Life

HADS- Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale

HERQULES- Health-Related Quality of Life in Children with Epilepsy Study

ILAE- International League Against Epilepsy

PWE- People with Epilepsy

QOLIE- Quality of Life in Epilepsy Inventory

STAI- Spielberger State-Trait Anxiety Inventory

Chapter 1

Introduction

This chapter provides the rationale and details regarding the study purpose and outlines the specific objectives for this thesis.

1.1 Statement of the Problem

Epilepsy is one of the most common chronic and disabling neurological diseases and it is often complicated and exacerbated by neuro-behavioural comorbidities[1][2]. There is a compelling body of evidence showing that people with epilepsy (PWE) report poorer health-related quality of life compared to people without epilepsy[3]. It is also known that epilepsy is a heterogenous medical condition and can be experienced differently by those who suffer from it[2]. Psychiatric comorbidities, particularly depression and anxiety, are prevalent among people with epilepsy and add to overall disease burden[4].

Anxiety symptoms are one of the most common psychiatric comorbid conditions reported to occur in PWE [5]. Research on psychiatric comorbidities experienced by PWE has often focused on depression[6]. However, there has been growing emphasis in the literature on the importance of identifying and treating anxiety symptoms as early as possible in the course of epilepsy[7]. Although it is known from previous studies in the literature that anxiety symptoms are experienced by PWE in the short-term, it is unknown if these symptoms persist in the long-term.

The family environment has increasingly been recognized as important to consider in delineating long-term outcomes in individuals who are diagnosed with pediatric chronic

diseases[8]. Particularly of interest is the view that the family environment is more malleable i.e. easier to change and/or modify compared to epilepsy-related clinical characteristics. A few studies have provided some evidence for the important role the family environment plays in other long-term outcomes such as health-related quality of life in people with epilepsy[9]. However, to the best of our knowledge, there are no studies investigating the potentially important role of the family environment in the experience of anxiety symptoms in the long term for individuals diagnosed with childhood epilepsy.

This thesis aims to bridge this gap by describing long-term outcomes of adolescents and young adults (AYA), focusing on anxiety symptoms, which are one of the common psychiatric comorbidities experienced by AYA diagnosed with epilepsy. It also describes the characteristics of those AYA experiencing anxiety symptoms in the long term with a novel focus on the extent to which family characteristics may be associated with anxiety symptoms many years after the diagnosis of epilepsy. Examining the association between family environment and anxiety symptoms could foster better understanding of potentially malleable factors as targets for interventions aimed at lowering the risk of anxiety symptoms in AYA.

1.2 Study Objectives

There are two primary objectives for this thesis:

- To describe anxiety symptoms in adolescents and young adults with childhood onset epilepsy ten years after their epilepsy diagnosis.
- 2) To assess the association between family characteristics and anxiety symptoms in adolescents and young adults ten years after epilepsy diagnosis, controlling for parent and child clinical and demographic characteristics, at both the:

- a) 10-year follow-up and
- b) time of epilepsy diagnosis.

The first objective aims to describe long-term anxiety symptoms among AYA with childhood-onset epilepsy, in terms of the proportion of AYA experiencing clinically significant anxiety symptoms and also in comparison to the general population of AYA as a way of offering a relative context within which to interpret the experience of AYA living with epilepsy. The second objective, exploring the characteristics associated with anxiety symptoms in AYA with epilepsy 10 years after diagnosis, primarily focuses on family, parent, and child clinical and demographic characteristics at the 10-year follow-up given their temporal proximity to the assessment of anxiety symptoms. Secondarily, assessing the association of these characteristics at diagnosis with anxiety symptoms in the long-term could identify potentially malleable family and other parent and clinical characteristics present early in the course of childhood onset epilepsy. This could foster early identification of children who may be at risk of anxiety symptoms and, in the longer term, inform preventive interventions.

Chapter 2

Background and Literature Review

This chapter provides a summary of the literature on several topics relevant to the objectives of this thesis. Section 2.1 provides an overview of epilepsy as a disorder. Section 2.2 provides an overview of the literature on anxiety in PWE. Section 2.3 provides a review of the literature on the family environment. Section 2.4 reviews the literature regarding associations of anxiety symptoms in childhood onset epilepsy with two key categories of factors: clinical characteristics of epilepsy and demographic characteristics.

Multiple databases were searched to conduct this literature review. Through Western University library database selector, PsycINFO (ProQuest), MEDLINE(OVID), and SCOPUS(PubMed) were chosen as the three primary databases to search for relevant publications. Search results were screened for review based on the title of the articles and then the abstracts. Publications were reviewed and included if their objectives were in line with the purpose of the current literature review. In addition, the ancestry method, which involves finding additional articles through the reference lists of studies already found, was used to locate relevant studies. Publications obtained through occasional email notifications from Mendeley were also reviewed and included if appropriate.

2.1 Overview of Epilepsy

The International League Against Epilepsy(ILAE) defines epilepsy as a disorder of the brain characterized by an enduring predisposition to generate epileptic seizures and the psychosocial, cognitive and neurobiological consequences that arise as a result of epileptic

seizures[10]. Criteria for an epilepsy diagnosis are: (i) at least two uncontrolled seizures, also known as reflex seizures, occurring >24-hour period; (ii) one unprovoked seizure with a high probability (i.e. >60%) of further seizures occurring over the next 10 years; or (iii) a diagnosis of epilepsy syndrome[10].

Seizures associated with the diagnosis of epilepsy are categorized mainly by type of onset[11]. Focal seizures, formerly known as partial seizures, are seizures originating in and limited to the neuronal networks of parts of one hemisphere[11][1]. Focal seizures may be localized to that hemisphere or spread across both hemispheres [11]. Generalized seizures are seizures that originate within the bilateral neuronal network in the cerebral hemisphere [11][1]. Seizures can start as a focal seizure and then later become generalized and can originate cortically and subcortically[1]. Awareness, defined as knowledge of self and immediate environment, is a further optional categorization of focal epilepsy[11]. Focal seizures may be awareness-impaired (i.e., lack of consciousness during some portion of a seizure event described as "focal unaware" seizures) or may be "focal aware" which refers to the retention of consciousness for the duration of a seizure event[11][1]. Awareness impairment is not used to categorize seizures of generalized onset, as these are almost always characterized by loss of awareness[11]. Generalized seizures are further classified based on motor activity during a seizure event. Epilepsy of generalized onset may involve the presence of bilateral motor activity during the seizure event, known as generalized motor seizure, or may be characterized by the absence of motor activity during a seizure event, known as generalized absence seizures[11][1].

There is currently no cure for epilepsy, whereby people are considered "cured" if they no longer have a particular disease and have no greater risk for future diagnosis of that disease,

relative to those who have been unaffected. After having had a diagnosis of epilepsy, having the same risk as unaffected individuals is rarely possible[10]. Epilepsy can be considered resolved, however, for two types of individuals: those whose epilepsy syndrome was agedependent and who have developed past such age, and for those who have not had any seizure events in the last 10 years and have been off medication for the last 5 years[10][11].

According to the National Population Health Survey (NHPS), the prevalence of epilepsy in Canada is 5.2 per 1000 and similarly 5.6 per 1000 based on the estimates from the Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS)[12]. Most provinces in Canada have similar prevalence of epilepsy, with the exception of British Columbia where prevalence is 30% lower than in the rest of Canada[12]. There is no evidence of differences in the prevalence of epilepsy by gender in the Canadian population[12][13]. The prevalence of childhood epilepsy in Canada is reported at 5.2 per 1000 for children ages 0-15, which is markedly similar to the adult population; however, there is a gender difference among children, with prevalence of epilepsy being slightly higher in males than females (M:F 6.5:4.0 per 1000 children)[14][2]. Approximately 50% of people with epilepsy are diagnosed before the age of 5, and approximately 75% are diagnosed before the age of 20, which may be a reflection of the brain's susceptibility to seizures in the course of development[1][15].

The desired outcome in epilepsy treatment is the complete cessation of seizures without further treatment (i.e., anti-seizure medication which is known as remission)[16]. However, outcomes are usually complex and there may be instances of repeated remission and relapses over many years[16]. One study investigating seizure remission and relapse reported that out of 625 participants, 328 achieved remission. However, 23 participants relapsed after

remission with the highest rates of relapse occurring in the first 5 years following initial remission[16]. Most studies investigating seizure outcomes report that about 60% to 70% of individuals with childhood onset epilepsy report complete remission[17][18]. Seizure remission is usually associated with better outcomes overall for individuals who suffer from epilepsy. One study reported that remission was associated with significantly better odds of completing college, being either employed or pursuing a degree and driving[19].

2.2 Anxiety in People with Epilepsy

The etiology of psychopathology in PWE is assumed to be neurological dysfunction. This assumption is confirmed by evidence that individuals with epilepsy, especially children, suffer from higher rates of psychopathology than those with chronic non-neurological disease[20]. Psychopathology may present as both internalizing and externalizing behaviours. Internalizing behaviours highlight the emotional and psychological state of the child[21] and they include anxiety, depression, suicidal ideation and somatic complaints[21]. Externalizing behaviours emphasize a child's outward behaviour and negative reaction with external environment[22]. Externalizing behaviours include aggressive, disruptive and hyperactive behaviours[22].

The Diagnostic Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5TH Edition, Text Revision(DSM-5) categorizes anxiety disorders into several groups, the most common being generalized anxiety disorder (GAD), obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD), panic disorder(PD), social phobia disorder and a subgroup of childhood psychiatric disorders known as separation anxiety disorder(SAD)[6][5]. Symptoms of GAD include persistent, uncontrolled thoughts with various themes for a period of 6 months or more[6]. PD is defined by periods of intense fear that occur suddenly and last minutes or longer, accompanied by physiological responses such as sweating,

breathing difficulty and a prominent fear of imminent and grave danger, such as loss of control and death[6][23]. In some cases, there might be difficulty differentiating between Panic attacks and epileptic seizures, especially focal epilepsy, due to overlap in symptoms[23]. Panic attacks usually lasts between a few minutes to a few hours, characterised by preserved consciousness with no confusion after the episode and no secondary spread or generalization to other brain regions, whereas focal epileptic seizures last seconds to a few minutes, and are typically characterized by loss of consciousness and post-episode confusion[23]. The symptoms of OCD include recurrent intrusive thoughts and impulses that are often unpleasant and characterized by behavioural or mental compulsions impulses[6][23]. These disorders are identified in both child and adolescent populations with slight variation in diagnostic criteria[6].

Most studies investigating anxiety in PWE do not specify the type of anxiety disorder under investigation. This is most likely due to the complexity of epilepsy and the nature of anxiety disorders which can make it particularly difficult to determine whether certain clusters of symptoms meet the criteria for a single group of anxiety disorder based on the DSM-5 classification[6][24]. For instance, in paediatric populations, fear of seizures or accidents related to seizures may be a symptom of agoraphobia and/or separation anxiety associated with having seizures outside of the home, or social phobia associated with fear of embarrassment if seizures occur in public places[6].

2.2.1 Differentiating between Anxiety and Anxiety Symptoms

It is important to note the distinction between anxiety disorders and anxiety symptoms.

Anxiety disorders are formal clinical diagnoses made by psychiatrists or other licensed mental health professionals based on the DSM-5 criteria[25]. Anxiety symptoms, on the other hand,

encompass subclinical levels of anxiety that may not meet criteria for a formal diagnosis of a "disorder", but may nonetheless cause substantial impairment to the lives of individuals who experience these symptoms[26]. Assessment of anxiety symptoms is important, as subclinical levels of anxiety cause significant distress that may require clinical attention, and these anxiety symptoms are often a precursor to the diagnosis of anxiety disorder[26][27].

Anxiety symptoms can be assessed for research purposes in epidemiological studies using symptom checklists, as they can be easily administered on a larger scale to determine the prevalence and nature of clinical and subclinical levels of anxiety within different demographic groups[26][28]. However, in the published literature the distinction between anxiety disorder and anxiety symptoms may be blurred at times. Often, researchers will incorrectly refer to the assessment of anxiety symptoms using symptom checklists as if anxiety disorder was the outcome measured. This leads to inconsistencies in the literature and a lack of consensus on the prevalence and nature of anxiety symptoms in various populations[25]. Although most symptom checklists are created based on the DSM criteria for diagnosing anxiety disorders, and some have a cut-off point or threshold score that may be indicative of an anxiety disorder, they do not provide official diagnosis of a "disorder" [26]. The outcome being assessed in this thesis is anxiety symptoms, rather than anxiety disorder. There are references made to studies on anxiety disorder, however, given the similarity to anxiety symptoms and relevance.

2.2.2 Prevalence of Anxiety Symptoms in Adolescents and Young Adults with Epilepsy

Several psychiatric and neuropsychiatric symptoms have been found to occur at a higher frequency in youth with epilepsy, relative to the general population[15][24]. The Isle of Wight

reported that 28.6% of children with the diagnosis of uncomplicated epilepsy experienced psychiatric disturbances, including anxiety symptoms compared to only 6.6% of the general population[29]. Anxiety symptoms are among the more common psychiatric symptoms experienced by AYA with epilepsy and often cause impediments in their daily lives[30]. One study found state and trait anxiety symptoms to be more common in young adults with epilepsy compared to a control group of healthy individuals of the same age group[31]. Another study reported that 28.6% of young male adults and 43.8% young female adults with epilepsy had developed anxiety symptoms, compared to 10.0% and 12.5% respectively in the hospital based control group[32].

Although most studies have reported a higher prevalence of anxiety symptoms in AYA with epilepsy than in the general population, a few studies have reported no difference in prevalence in anxiety symptoms between AYA with epilepsy and general population. A Turkish study reported no statistically significant difference in anxiety symptom scores between children with epilepsy and their mothers and a control group of children without epilepsy and their mothers[33]. Differences in the prevalence of anxiety symptoms across published studies may be due to the use of different anxiety symptoms checklists, the characteristics of the study participants based on inclusion and exclusion criteria used, as well as the cultural contexts of the studies.

Although depression has been the most common focus of studies investigating psychopathology in AYA with epilepsy, recent studies investigating both depression and anxiety have reported that anxiety symptoms are more common in this population[23]. A population-

based study from the US found that 17% of children and adolescents with active epilepsy experienced anxiety symptoms, whereas 8% experienced depression[34]. A Jordanian study carried out using an interviewer-administered questionnaire also reported that anxiety symptoms were more prevalent in AYA 14 to 24 years of age with epilepsy (48.5%) compared to depressive symptoms (22.8%)[27].

2.2.3 Bidirectional Relationship Between Anxiety and Epilepsy

Evidence from the literature suggests the potential of a bidirectional relationship between the initial diagnosis of epilepsy and anxiety whereby elevated anxiety symptoms or anxiety disorders may contribute to seizures, and conversely epilepsy may lead to elevated anxiety symptoms[35].

Some studies show evidence that anxiety symptoms or anxiety disorders may cause or at least contribute to epilepsy. One of such study, a Swedish population-based case control study investigated hospitalization for anxiety disorders before and after the onset of epilepsy, and reported that individuals diagnosed with epilepsy had almost three times higher odds of prior hospitalization for an anxiety disorder compared with a control group without epilepsy (CI:1.6-4.8)[36]. One study examining children right after the diagnosis of epilepsy to assess timing and development of psychopathology found that children with new onset epilepsy had higher rates of anxiety, depression, and hyperactivity before diagnosis than a control group of their first cousins[37][38]. A greater number of studies show evidence of epilepsy causing elevated anxiety symptoms. One such study reported that individuals with epilepsy had

significantly higher incidence of elevated anxiety symptoms following epilepsy diagnosis compared to a control group without epilepsy[31].

A few studies show evidence of a bidirectional relationship. A cohort study that investigated the incidence of anxiety symptoms three years prior to and after the onset of epilepsy found that the incidence rate for elevated anxiety symptoms was significantly higher in each of the three years prior to the diagnosis of epilepsy, compared to a matched control group without epilepsy (IRR: 1.5-15.7)[39]. In this same study, incidence rates for anxiety symptoms were also significantly higher after the onset of epilepsy, compared to the control group (IRR: 2.2-10.9).

Other studies have suggested the possibility that a single region of the brain may be implicated in both epilepsy and anxiety symptomology[23]. One study reported that compared with the normative data for the Revised Children's Manifest Anxiety Scale, children presenting with first seizures (i.e., at diagnosis of epilepsy) reported "significantly greater" total anxiety symptoms (RCMAS)[40]. It appears that some PWE develop anxiety prior to the onset of epilepsy whereas others develop anxiety after the onset of epilepsy. One factor that contributes to the challenge of determining the temporal relationship between seizures and anxiety is knowing whether seizures occur before they are first reported. Researchers have put forward a hypothesis that seizures may occur during sleep or even during waking hours without being noticed as seizures initially[24][23]. More research is needed to determine the temporal relationship between seizures and anxiety in PWE. It remains important, however, to continue investigating the possibility of a reciprocal relationship between epilepsy and anxiety whenever possible.

2.3 Impact of Family Environment and Parent Characteristics on Childhood Epilepsy

The family is widely considered central to epilepsy research particularly in reference to child psychopathology[41][15]. The diagnosis of epilepsy especially in children brings consequences not only for the person affected but also for their families[41]. Parents have reported feeling the loss of a perfect child and having to come to terms with the realization of their child's difference compared to other "healthy" children[41]. Parents have also reported feelings of vulnerability, anger, sadness, guilt and to be searching for the cause of epilepsy[41]. In many cases, feelings of stigma may be felt in the family as parents often fear other people's reactions and feelings about their child's epilepsy, which can extend beyond the child to other family members including siblings[41].

In dealing with the unpredictable nature of seizures, families often have to make adjustments and reorganize the existing family structure and routines to adapt to the demands of the illness[15], [42]. Current research shows that families of children with epilepsy differ from families with children without epilepsy on distinct family factors such as family functioning, family resources and family demands[15][8]. These family factors underscore important aspects of the family such as satisfaction with family relationships, family stressors, and resources available to families for coping with the demands and stressors of life events[8].

Studies have examined one or more of these family factors and their association with psychopathology in children and adolescents with epilepsy. One study reported family stress, family mastery and social support were strongly associated with total behaviour problems[43]. Another study found that poorer family functioning was significantly associated with poorer psychosocial functioning in children and adolescents with epilepsy[44]. In this study, the

authors reported that family functioning mediated the effect of other chronic illnesses on anxiety symptoms among CWE. One other study also found family functioning to be strongly predictive of child depressive symptoms which often overlaps with anxiety symptom[45].

Another study exploring predictors of behaviour problems in CWE found that family stress was a significant contributor [46].

Other than the family factors highlighted above, there are certain parent characteristics such as parental depression, family structure and family income that also impact development and mental health outcome in CWE[47]. Parental depression, specifically maternal depression, has been shown to impact psychopathology and mental health outcomes in children and adolescents with epilepsy[42], [48]. Studies have reported that CWE are at increased risk of internalizing as well as externalizing behavioural problems when their mothers suffer from depression compared to CWE whose mothers do not suffer from depression or psychiatric morbidity[47]. One study found that maternal depression was strongly correlated with internalizing child behaviours [49]. This study also found mothers' worries about epilepsy and mothers' perceived stigma correlated with total child behaviour problems. Parental depression was also found to be the strongest predictor of children's internalizing and externalizing behaviours[50]. Another study found that caregiver psychopathology was a significant independent predictor of anxiety symptoms experienced by CWE[51]. Yet another study exploring effects of parent characteristics on anxiety symptoms in paediatric epilepsy reported a statistically significant effect of parent history on anxiety symptoms experienced by CWE with controlled seizures and uncontrolled seizures [52]. The results of this study showed a three-fold increase in anxiety symptoms experienced by CWE in the presence of parental psychiatric

history regardless of whether seizures were controlled or not. There are, however, a few studies that report no association between parental depression or psychiatric disturbances and psychopathology in CWE. A study examining symptoms of anxiety and depression in adolescents with epilepsy showed no significant association with maternal depression and child psychopathology[53]. Another study investigating anxiety and depression in CWE and their mothers found no correlation between maternal psychopathology (anxiety and depression) and anxiety and depression in CWE[33].

Family structure (i.e., single parent families or two-parent families), and family socioeconomic status[8] also play a role in explaining mental health outcomes in CWE. Living with a chronic disease such as epilepsy requires a considerable amount of support from the family[8]. Research has shown that there is usually more support in two-parent households than single-parent households as the burden of the disease on a child may be shared and more easily managed by two parents[42]. There is also evidence that two-parent households are better off socioeconomically than single-parent household [49]. Families that are better off socioeconomically are at an advantage to provide better support for a child with a chronic disease like epilepsy[8]. Families and households with lower income struggle more with the burden of dealing with an illness like epilepsy and this may adversely impact parental wellbeing[49]. Few studies have explored such parent characteristics (i.e., family structure and family income) and how they contribute to mental health outcomes in people with epilepsy. It is common in these studies for marital status of parents and caregivers to be used as a general indicator of family structure i.e., single parent households (separated, divorced, widowed and never married) or two-parent household(married)[8]. One study reported that disrupted

parental marital relationship was significantly associated with internalizing behaviour problems in adolescents with epilepsy[54].

In summary, most studies examining family environment and psychopathology in children and adolescents with epilepsy indicate that the family factors and parent characteristics play vital roles in the development of psychopathology in CWE[41] and for this reason, it is important to investigate the association between family environment and the experience of anxiety symptoms in this population.

2.4 Association Between Child Clinical and Demographic Characteristics and Anxiety Symptoms among Adolescents and Young Adults with Epilepsy

This section consists of an overview of studies that explored the association of key child clinical and demographic characteristics in epilepsy with anxiety symptoms. These characteristics are: severity of seizures and control seizures, seizure frequency and freedom, anti-seizure medication, type of seizure, child's sex and child's age

2.4.1 Severity of Seizures and Control of Seizures

Seizure severity is determined by a combination of seizure components across studies. Most common components that determine seizure severity include pre and post seizure events, length of time a seizure event lasts, automatisms, incontinence, functional impairments, degree of altered consciousness and severity of injuries if any that occur during a seizure event[55]. There are scales that take some or all of these components into account to determine seizure severity[55]. Seizures that are uncontrolled are more severe than seizures that are controlled.

Prior evidence suggests that the severity of seizures is a significant predictor of anxiety experienced by PWE[23]. A study that investigated anxiety symptoms among adolescents with controlled and uncontrolled seizures found that a higher proportion of adolescents with uncontrolled seizures experienced anxiety symptoms compared to adolescents with controlled seizures[27]. A Korean study reported significantly higher rates of anxiety symptoms in AYA with uncontrolled seizures than those with well controlled seizures and in healthy controls[56]. Even the perception of seizure control, regardless of whether the seizures are clinically controlled or not, appears to have a significant impact on the risk of experiencing anxiety symptoms for PWE. One study investigating the psychosocial aspects of anxiety in epilepsy reported that perception of seizure control was significantly associated with the experience of anxiety symptoms in PWE such that participants who perceived that their seizures were controlled, even if they were not, had lower risk of experiencing anxiety symptoms than those who had no perception of seizure control[32].

2.4.2 Seizure Frequency and Freedom

Studies discuss the occurrence of seizures in two ways. Some studies categorize participants based on the frequency of their seizures (i.e., daily, weekly, monthly, and even yearly). Other studies categorize participants based on the period of time participants have been seizure free (i.e., one-year seizure free, two-year seizure and five-year seizure free). Regarding frequency of seizures, the literature on the association of seizure frequency with anxiety symptoms presents mixed results. Most studies are cross-sectional in nature; hence, it is difficult to ascertain whether frequency of seizures is associated with anxiety symptoms in AYA with epilepsy. Several studies have found a significant association. One study investigating

the prevalence and factors associated with the experience of anxiety and depression in a group of Nigerian youth found that a higher frequency of seizures in the month before the study began was strongly associated with youth anxiety disorders[57]. A similar study of Turkish adolescents found that higher frequency of seizures in adolescents was significantly associated with higher mean scores on the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory(STAI) indicating higher levels of anxiety symptoms[58].

Other studies have examined the association of seizure freedom (i.e., period without seizures rather than seizure frequency) with anxiety symptoms[30]. Few studies have examined the association of seizure freedom and remission with anxiety symptoms in AYA, finding mixed results[30][59]. One study found that 73.5% of study participants with active seizures had anxiety symptoms whereas only 26.5% of participants without seizures had anxiety symptoms when assessed using the Hospital Anxiety Depression Scale (HADS) measure[30]. Another study found no significant relationship between seizure freedom or any other epilepsy-related factors and psychiatric symptoms in adolescents with epilepsy[59]. As with frequency of seizures, the inconsistency in findings across studies might be partly explained by the varying criteria for the period of seizure-control which makes comparison among studies difficult.

2.4.3 Anti-seizure Medications

Anti-seizure medications (ASM) are important and effective psychotropic drugs used for seizure control by PWE[60]. A few studies have reported evidence that polytherapy with ASM, compared to monotherapy, increases the risk of anxiety disorders in PWE[6]. This increased risk could be attributed to direct adverse effects from specific medications including behavioural and cognitive toxicity and/or complications from withdrawal[60][5]. ASM can have either

positive or negative psychotropic effects[60][61]. Behavioural responses to specific ASM are dependent on the neurological disease, drug interaction, environmental and also genetic factors[60]. A Nigerian study designed to determine factors associated with clinically significant anxiety and depression in AYA with epilepsy using the HADS-A found polytherapy was the only factor significantly associated with anxiety[62]. Another study found the amount of ASM contributed "robustly" to the risk of elevated anxiety symptoms experienced by AYA with epilepsy[57]. A study of children and adolescents ages 6-16 years investigating anxiety symptoms and factors associated with its occurrence using the Revised Children's Manifest Scale (RCMAS) found amount of ASM to be significantly associated with anxiety symptoms in children and adolescents[63]. A study designed to investigate the magnitude of depression and anxiety symptoms among people living with epilepsy in Ethiopia using the HADS found side effects of ASM to be one of three factors significantly associated with the experience of elevated anxiety symptoms.

It is important to note that whether the relationship between polytherapy and anxiety symptoms in PWE may be causal is still unclear[24]. PWE are more likely to be on polytherapy if they suffer from uncontrolled or poorly controlled seizures; hence, it is possible that the higher risk of anxiety symptoms reported by PWE on polytherapy versus those on monotherapy might be due to an indirect effect of poor seizure control rather than a direct effect of polytherapy[6].

Most studies examining psychopathology and epilepsy in youth also investigated an independent effect of type of seizure. Several studies have reported a significant association between type of seizure and anxiety symptoms, particularly focal onset seizures[5]. In a study

investigating the independent association of clinical features of epilepsy with anxiety symptoms using the Symptom Checklist-90R (SCL-90R), participants with focal seizures had nearly triple the odds of experiencing a high level of anxiety symptoms, compared to participants with generalized seizures[64]. Other studies have reported contrasting results such as a population-based study examining symptoms of anxiety and depression in school-aged children using the Spence Anxiety Scale for Children (SASC), which found that participants (child-report only) with generalized seizures reported elevated levels of anxiety symptoms compared to those with focal seizures[65]. Another study reported higher rates of anxiety symptoms in participants with childhood absence epilepsy (generalized seizures) compared to participants with complex partial seizures (focal seizures)[66].

2.4.5 Child's Sex

It is well established in the literature that women are more likely than men to suffer from an anxiety disorder in the general population[67]. However, for PWE, the findings are mixed and inconclusive. Some studies investigating the association between sex and anxiety symptoms among PWE found no relationship[37][57][33][68]. There are a few studies that found an association, and the results of these studies are usually consistent with the gender differences observed in the general population. A Brazilian study investigating the frequency of psychiatric symptoms in AYA with epilepsy using the HADS found that being female was significantly associated with the elevated anxiety symptoms (95% CI:1.2-5.2)[69]. Another study suggests that females have elevated anxiety symptoms in AYA with epilepsy (95% CI:0.30—5.21][51]. One study investigating gender differences in psychopathology in PWE reported no differences in risk of anxiety symptoms between men and women[70]. However, men in this

study were significantly older, had later age of onset, were more likely to have focal epilepsy and were treated more frequently with ASM compared to women[70]. These differences in clinical characteristics, with men suffering from more severe epilepsy, may have resulted in anxiety levels among men being elevated to match that of women in the study, which may explain why no significant difference between the sexes was found in this study[70].

2.4.6 Child's Age

Most studies have found that anxiety symptoms in PWE do not appear to vary by age [71][33][59][28][69], although there have been few studies reporting a significant association. One study found that older children (ages 8 to 15 years) with epilepsy reported more symptoms of anxiety on the Spence Children's Anxiety Scale (SCAS) compared to younger children (<7yrs) at the time of the study[65]. In contrast, another study reported that participants with anxiety symptoms tended to be younger children[66]. A few other studies that have investigated association between anxiety symptoms and duration of epilepsy have reported that age may be an effect modifier in the relationship. One study reported that symptoms of anxiety differed by length of time since diagnosis, but only for older participants[58]. This study found that anxiety scores on the STAI were significantly higher in participants ages 12 to 18 years with epilepsy duration of 3 years or more, compared to those with epilepsy duration under 3 years[58]. In this study however, there was no significant difference in anxiety scores based on epilepsy duration for participants ages 9-11 years[58].

For studies that have found an association between age and anxiety symptoms, the differences between adolescents and younger children may be indicative of older children's more advanced cognition that allows an understanding of the disease and increases awareness

of the unpredictability of seizures. This awareness may in turn increase the likelihood of anxiety in older children[6]. Another explanation for these discrepancies in age groups might be that anxiety exhibits differently in different age groups. Some aspects, such as autonomic and agitation syndrome which involves pronounced physical symptoms like palpitations, increased blood pressure and reports of "feeling sick" [72]are typically exhibited by younger children whereas older children exhibit cognitive and avoidant syndrome which involves feelings of apprehension, inadequacy and deficiency compared to others [6][73]. More research is still needed in this area.

2.5 Limitations of Previous Studies

Previous studies have several limitations. First, there are inconsistencies in how anxiety is evaluated, with some studies focused on anxiety disorders (ascertained through clinical interventions and meeting diagnostic criteria) and anxiety symptoms (ascertained through questionnaires). Second, most studies, especially studies examining the impact of the family environment on childhood epilepsy, have not investigated anxiety symptoms independently. These studies usually investigate anxiety symptoms as part of investigating the broader set psychopathology which includes psychiatric comorbidities other than anxiety symptoms. This causes difficulty when attempting to draw conclusions from the literature about the impact of the family environment on anxiety symptoms. This thesis addresses this limitation by focusing on anxiety symptoms independent from other psychiatric symptoms. Third, previous studies have often focused on cross-sectional data assessing the relationship between family characteristics and psychopathology including anxiety symptoms in AYA with epilepsy. It is unknown whether the association between family and parent characteristics and anxiety

symptoms hold over the longer term. This thesis addresses this limitation by examining the relationship between early family, parent and clinical characteristics and long-term anxiety symptoms.

Chapter 3

Methods

This chapter describes the methodology employed in this thesis. Section 3.1 presents details on the source of the data, followed by descriptions of measures used in this thesis in sections 3.2, 3.3, and 3.4. This chapter closes with a description of the statistical methods in section 3.5.

3.1 Data Source and Sample

Data for this thesis come from the Health-Related Quality of Life in children with Epilepsy Study (HERQULES,). HERQULES was a Canada-wide prospective cohort study that followed families i.e. parents and their children newly diagnosed with epilepsy over a 10-year period with follow-up at 6 months, 1 year, 2 years, 8 years and 10 years. A two stage-clustered sampling strategy was used to recruit parents of children with epilepsy. The first sampling stage began in 2004 and involved inviting all neurologists who were members of the Canadian Association of Child Neurology (n = 72). Of the practicing neurologists invited, 74% agreed to participate in the study (n = 53). In the second stage of the sampling, the participating neurologists were asked to approach parents of all their respective patients who met the inclusion criteria and inform them about the study. The neurologists received consent from parents of eligible patients to provide their contact information to the study team for the purposes of sending a letter of information about the study.

Patients were included in the study if they met the following eligibility criteria:

1) Patients were seen for the first time by a paediatric neurologist participating in the study;

- 2) Diagnosis of epilepsy occurred between the ages of 4 and 12 years;
- 3) Parent participating in the study had been the child's caregiver for at least 6 months and expected to continue to be their caregiver for the duration of the study.

Ineligibility for participating in the study was based on the following exclusion criteria:

- 1) Previous diagnosis of epilepsy by another physician;
- 2) Diagnosis of progressive and degenerative neurological disorder;
- Diagnosis of any other major non-neurological disorder that may impact quality of life;
- 4) Parents had insufficient English language skills to complete questionnaires.

Data collection occurred in two phases. The first phase consisted of following patients and their families for two years and collecting data at baseline, 6 months, 1 year and 2 years. Families were mailed questionnaires to complete and return at these four time points. The parent questionnaires took approximately 45 to 60 minutes to complete and asked about their child's HRQoL and the family environment. Parents were asked to give their consent for their child's neurologist to complete an assessment form providing clinical information, such as severity and type of epilepsy, medication, and side effects, as well as cognitive and behavioural problems. These assessment forms took about 7 minutes to complete and were faxed to the HERQULES office. A total of 373 parents of the 455 eligible children were successfully recruited into the study. Of those, 283 parents were retained at 2-year follow-up.

The second phase of the study consisted of re-inviting patients and their families for an 8-year and a 10-year follow up. A letter of information was sent to parents as well as to youth 11 years and older explaining that two self-administered questionnaires would be sent two years apart. These questionnaires could be completed and submitted online or on paper to mail back. For patients still receiving epilepsy care, informed consent was obtained from parents and

patients who were now adults (>18years) to contact their current health care provider to obtain updated clinical information. A total of 220 families were eligible to fill out the self-reported questionnaire at the start of the second phase. The Tailored Designed Method was employed to increase participation at each follow-up point. This technique has been shown to be effective in increasing response rate in survey research[74][75]. Research ethics approval was obtained for both phases of the study (see Appendix D, page 73). Approval for the first phase of the study was obtained from the each of the research ethics boards of the 17 paediatric neurology centers across Canada. Approval for the second phase of the study was obtained from the Western University Health Sciences Research Ethics Board only, given the established relationship with participating families. Funding for HERQULES was provided by two operating grants from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research.

3.2 Measures

The variables used in this thesis were selected based on availability in the HERQULES dataset and informed by existing literature showing associations between these measures and anxiety symptoms in AYA with epilepsy.

3.2.1 Outcome: Anxiety Symptoms

The State-Trait Anxiety Inventory Form Y-6 (STAI-Y6) was used to assess anxiety symptoms in AYA with epilepsy at the 10-year follow-up. The STAI-Y6 developed by Matteau and Bekker is a shortened version of the 20-item State Anxiety subscale of the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory Form Y(STAI-S) developed by Spielberg in 1983[76][77][78]. The STAI-S was developed to assess the transient state of arousal often subjectively experienced as

anxiety[78][79]. Respondents are asked to rate the frequency with which each item occurs on a 4-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (almost never) to 4 (almost always)[78]. The STAI-Y6 consists of a total of 6 items. Some items on the STAI-Y6 include: "I feel calm", "I feel tense" (see Appendix B, page 68 for complete checklist). The total score is multiplied by 20 and divided by 6 to yield scores that range from 20-80 and are comparable to the full form STAI-S[76]. Scores greater than 40 are considered to be indicative of clinically significant anxiety symptoms[80][81]. The STAI-Y6 has demonstrated acceptable reliability and validity [76][79]. The STAI-Y6 is sensitive to cognitive, future oriented and global dimensions of anxiety[79]. The STAI-S measures more transient anxious state as opposed to the STAI-T that measures more enduring anxiety.

3.2.2 Exposure: Family Characteristics

Family Functioning.

Family Functioning is important to consider as it represents a major aspect of the family environment and family members' satisfaction with family functioning gives an indication of how cohesive the family is[82]. The level of family functioning plays a major role in child development and overall wellbeing. Family functioning was measured using the Family Adaptability, Partnership, Growth, Affection, and Resolve (APGAR)[83]. The APGAR consists of five items scored on a five-point Likert-type scale with total score ranging from 0 to 20[82][83][84]. Parents were asked to rate the frequency of satisfaction with family functioning on the scale from 0 (hardly ever) to 2 (almost always) for each dimension on the instrument. Higher scores on the APGAR indicate higher satisfaction with family functioning[83]. The validity and reliability of the APGAR has been demonstrated in clinical and research settings[83]. Family

functioning was measured at baseline, 6-month, 1-year, 2-year, 8-year, and 10-year follow-up. In the current study, measures at baseline and 10-year-follow-up were used.

Family Resources

Family resources are an important part of the family environment because they give a snapshot of the extended family support a family has access to and the overall state of the family's well being. The construct family resources was measured using the Family Inventory for Resources and Management (FIRM)[43] which is a self-report instrument that asked parents to assess the degree to which resources are available to families to cope with stressful life events [85]. The FIRM consists of four subscales, two of which, , were used in HERQULES as there is evidence to support that these subscales are associated with familial adaptation to childhood epilepsy[43](i.e., Family Strength: Mastery and Health [20 items] and Extended Family Social Support [4 items]). The FIRM is scored on a 4-point Likert-type scale with scores ranging from 0 to 72[85]. Parents were asked to rate how well each item on the instrument describes their family situation from 0 (not at all) to 3 (very well). Higher scores indicate a family has a higher level of resources in terms of family strength and social support[85]. Adequate reliability and validity of the FIRM has been demonstrated [85]. The FIRM was used to access family resources at baseline, 6-month,1-year, 2-year, 8-year and 10-year follow-up. In the current study, measures at baseline and 10-year-follow-up were used.

Family Demands

Family demands were assessed by parent-report using the Family Inventory of Life Events and Changes (FILE) [85]. The FILE is a 71-item instrument that assesses family stress in the previous year across 9 domains[85]. The FILE considers normative and non-normative life events that families may experience. Scores on the FILE range from 0 to 71 with higher scores

indicating higher levels of family stress in the previous year[85]. The FILE has demonstrated adequate discriminant validity, test-retest validity and internal consistency[85]. The FILE was used to access family resources at baseline, 6-month,1-year, 2-year, 8-year and 10-year follow-up. In the current study, measures at baseline and 10-year follow-up were used

3.2.3 Covariates: Parent Characteristics

Parental Depression

Depressive symptoms in parents was assessed using the Center for Epidemiological Studies

Depression Scale (CES-D)[86]. The CES-D is a 20-item scale developed to assess depressive

symptoms in the past week in the general adult population[86]. It is a 4-point Likert scale in

which respondents rate the number of days they felt a certain way from 0 (rarely or less than

one day) to 3 (most or all the time/5-7). Scores on CES-D can range from 0 to 60[86]. Scores

equal to or greater than 16 are indicative of being at risk for major depressive disorder.

Parental depressive symptoms were measured at baseline, 6-month,1-year, 2-year, 8-year and

10-year follow-up. In the current study, measures at baseline and 10-year-follow-up were used.

Parental Marital Status

Parental marital status is included as an indication of family structure (single or two parent household). Data on marital status were recorded as: married, divorced, separated, remarried, never married. For these analyses marital status was dichotomized as: married (married and remarried) and not married (separated, divorced, never married). In the current study, measures at baseline and 10-year-follow-up were used.

Family Income

Primary caregivers reported their gross annual household income (income before taxes).

Income options ranged from less than \$20,000 to greater than \$150,000. In the current study,

family income was treated as a continuous variable to obtain a more parsimonious model (results were similar when treated as a categorical variable). In the current study, family income was measured at the 6-month,1-year, 2-year, 8-year and 10-year follow-up. For this thesis, measures at baseline and 10-year-follow-up were used.

3.2.4: Covariates: Child Clinical and Demographic Characteristics

Key clinical characteristics of epilepsy and demographic characteristics were provided by neurologist and parents respectively. The clinical characteristics included in this thesis were: severity of epilepsy, type of seizure, five-year seizure freedom, anti-seizure medication (ASM) use and cognitive and behavioural problems. The demographic characteristics were children's age and sex.

Severity of Epilepsy

Severity of epilepsy is often used interchangeably with severity of seizures but severity of epilepsy is more encompassing than severity of seizures[87]. Clinical features such as frequency and intensity of seizures, anti-seizure medications, falls and injuries during seizures and level of daily disruption to patient's lives are all considered when determining the severity of the disease[88][87].

The Global Assessment of Severity of Epilepsy (GASE) was used to measure the overall severity of the child's epilepsy considering all aspects of how the disease affects patients[88]. The GASE is a single-item measure that was developed for use in HERQULES with severity of epilepsy assessed by participating neurologists[87] at baseline, 6-month,1-year, 2-year, 8-year and 10-year follow-up. Neurologists were asked to rate the severity of patients' overall epilepsy on a 7-point Likert-type scale ranging from extremely severe (1) to not severe at all (7). In this

study, severity of epilepsy was treated as continuous variables to obtain a more parsimonious model (results were similar when treated as a categorical variable).

Type of Seizure

Paediatric neurologists reported on the type of epilepsy syndromes and seizures based on the 1989 International League Against Epilepsy (ILAE) classification (the version that was current at the onset of HERQULES): primary generalized, absence, simple/complex partial(focal seizures), benign epilepsy of childhood with Rolandic spikes (BECRS), secondarily generalized, BECRS + secondarily generalized, or undetermined[89]. Type of seizures variable was collapsed into two categories: generalized and focal, in line with the conventional broader categorization of seizures.

Five-year Seizure Freedom

Five-year seizure freedom has clinical significance in that it is usually used as the length of time required to define remission. AYA were asked "When was your last seizure? (It is OKAY to provide your best guess)". The options were: less than 6 months ago, 6 months ago to less than 1 year ago, 1 year ago to less than 2 years ago, 2 years ago to less than 5 years ago, 5 years to less than 10 years ago, 10 years ago or more, I don't remember. This variable was collapsed into two categories based on whether 5-year seizure freedom had been attained. It was assessed at the 10-year follow-up to determine which individuals had achieved 5-year seizure freedom.

ASM Use

Use of ASM and variations in the numbers used is one of the clinical indicators of epilepsy severity. AYA reported on their current use of anti-epileptic drugs. They were asked,

"Are you currently taking any medication to treat epilepsy or seizures?". Two response options: were available to this question "yes" or "no".

Cognitive and Behavioural Problems

Cognitive and behavioural problems are important clinical considerations in epilepsy management. The presence of cognitive and behavioural problems is considered when making decisions on the clinical management of the disease. Paediatric neurologists were asked "Does the patient have cognitive problems?" and "Does the patient have behavioural problems?" with response options "no (normal)" and "yes". If the response was "yes", neurologists were asked to rate the severity of the cognitive or behavioural problems as borderline, mild, moderate or severe.

At the 10-year follow up, parents were asked to indicate "yes" or "no" if their child had ever been diagnosed with any of the following: developmental delay, learning disability, oppositional defiant disorder, attention deficit disorder (ADD) or attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), conduct disorder, anxiety or depression. If "yes", parents were asked to indicate whether this diagnosis happened "before", "after" or "at the same time as" their child's diagnosis of epilepsy. In the current study, AYA were categorized as having cognitive problems if they were reported to have been diagnosed with developmental delay and or learning disability. AYA were categorized as having behavioural problems if parents reported they have been diagnosed with oppositional defiant disorder, attention deficit disorder (ADD) or attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), or conduct disorder. AYA were categorized as having emotional problems if parents reported they have been diagnosed with anxiety or depression. Parents' report of emotional problems was not included in the multivariable

statistical analyses for this thesis given the likely overlap of this variable with the primary outcome of anxiety symptoms as self-reported by AYA.

Child's Age

Age at diagnosis was calculated using the date of birth of the patient and the date of the first visit with the participating paediatric neurologist during which the diagnosis of epilepsy was made.

Child's Sex

Child's sex was reported by parents at baseline and recorded as "Male" or "Female".

3.3 Statistical Analysis

All analyses were conducted using SAS software version 9.4[90]. Family, clinical, and demographic factors from the sample at the 10-year follow-up and the time of diagnosis (baseline) were described using frequencies and proportions for categorical variables and means and standard deviations for continuous variables.

3.3.1 Analyses to Address Objective 1

Objective #1: To describe of anxiety symptoms in adolescent and young adults with epilepsy 10 years after diagnosis.

Total scores on the STAI-Y6 range from 20 to 80, with scores greater than 40 indicative of clinically significant anxiety symptoms. The mean, standard deviation, and range of scores were reported, as well as the proportion of youth who had a score above 40. A standardized anxiety score (anxiety z-score) was calculated to compare AYA's scores with the age and sex appropriate US normative data[91]; this was calculated by subtracting AYA's scores from the mean of the normative data and dividing by the standard deviation of normative data. This

yielded a z-score, with scores of 0 indicative of anxiety symptoms that are the same as the population normative data, and a score of 1 indicative of scores that are 1 standard deviation above the population normative data. A one-sample t-test was used to evaluate whether the anxiety z-score was statistically different from 0.

3.3.2 Analyses to Address Objective 2

Objective #2: To assess the association between family characteristics and anxiety symptoms in adolescents and young adults 10 years after diagnosis, controlling for parent, child clinical and demographic characteristics. Specifically, focusing on characteristics from a) The 10-year follow-up and b) The time of diagnosis.

To assess the associations of anxiety symptoms with each family, parent, and child clinical and demographic variables at the 10-year follow-up (objective 2a), bivariate analyses were first conducted using simple linear regression, followed by a multivariable linear regression model. The primary 'exposure' variables of interest were family functioning, family resources, and family demands; these variables were forced into the multivariable model.

Other family covariates (parental depression, family income, history of cognitive and behavioural problems (parent report)) and clinical and demographic covariates (seizure recency, ASM use, child age and child sex) were entered into the multivariable model if they attained a significance level of p<0.20[92] in the bivariable analyses. This level of significance was chosen since a lower significance level might result in excluding variables that may otherwise be important predictors[92]. The assumptions for linear regression (linearity, normality of residuals, lack of multicollinearity, autocorrelation, heteroscedasticity) were

checked. Assumptions of linearity, normality of residuals, lack of multicollinearity: variance inflation factor no greater than 10, autocorrelation and heteroscedasticity were met.

To address objective 2b, the analyses above were repeated and family, parent, clinical and child variables were assessed at the time of diagnosis. Specifically, the variables included in the model were: family functioning, family resources, family demands, parental depression, family income, severity of epilepsy, type of seizure, cognitive and behavioural problems, child age and child sex. As with analysis for objective 2a, the exposure variables (i.e., family functioning, family resources and family demand assessed at time of diagnosis) were entered into the model regardless of significance level. Other covariates assessed at time of diagnosis were entered into the model only if p<0.2 significance criteria was met in the bivariate models.

An attrition analysis was conducted to determine whether the group of patients retained by the 10-year follow-up and those who did not participate in the 10-year follow-up differ in terms of any family, clinical and demographic factors at baseline. Specifically, the two groups patients were compared on family factors (family functioning, family resources, family demands, parental depression, family income, marital status,), demographic factors (child age at diagnosis and child sex), and clinical factors (severity of epilepsy, type of seizure, behaviour and cognitive problems, parent reported behavior, cognitive and emotional problems) using t-tests for continuous variables and chi-square tests and/or fisher's exact test for categorical variables.

3.3.4 Missing Data

Complete data were available for 74% of the sample of patients at the 10-year follow-up. Given the longitudinal nature of the data, single imputation was used when categorical data were missing. For example, if family income was reported as \$50,000 to \$99,999 / year at the 6-month follow-up, 1-year follow-up, and 12-month follow-up, but was missing from baseline, \$50,000 to \$99,999 was imputed as the family income at baseline. Values were not imputed where there was uncertainty about the value of the missing data. Of the variables that were included in the multivariable regression using variables from the 10-year follow-up and from baseline, a total of 98% and 82% of cases, respectively, had complete data after single imputation. Given the proportion of cases with complete data, listwise deletion was used to deal with missing data.

Chapter 4

Results

This chapter presents the findings of this thesis. The sample characteristics are first described in section 4.1, followed by results of the attrition analysis in section 4.2. The last section (sections 4.3) presents the results for each research objective.

4.1 Sample Characteristics

Tables 1 and 2 presents the demographic, clinical and family characteristics at baseline and the 10-year follow-up. At the 10-year follow-up, 176 AYA were sent questionnaires, and 131 returned them. The final size of the sample analyzed was 128; three participants were excluded as they did not provide data on the outcome of interest (anxiety symptoms). AYA (48% male) were on average 17.8 years of age (SD: 2.54) at 10-year follow-up. The majority of AYA (67%) had been seizure free for 5 or more years. Nearly three quarters of AYA were no longer on ASM. The majority (63%) of AYA reported that they were no longer receiving care for epilepsy or seizure management from any physician, whereas 25% reported receiving care for epilepsy from either an adult neurologist, pediatric care specialist or a family physician. In terms of parent-reported behavioural and cognitive problems, 20% had been diagnosed with behavioural problems, 34% had been diagnosed with cognitive problems, and 22% had been diagnosed with emotional problems at the 10-year follow-up.

Table 1: Family, Parent, and Child Clinical and Demographic Characteristics at 10-year Follow-up (n=128)

Variable	10-year-follow up
	Mean (SD) OR N (%)
Family functioning	14.6 (4.0)
Family resources	51.6 (11.8)
Family demands	8.5 (5.9)
Parental depression	10.1 (8.9
CES-D score <u>></u> 16,	26 (20%)
CES-D score < 16,	102 (80%)
Married	97 (82%)
Family income	
Less than \$50,000	19 (16%)
\$50,000 - \$99,999	38 (32%)
\$100,000 - \$149,000	28 (23%)
\$150,000 or more	32 (27%)
Don't know	2 (2%)
Child's age	17.8 (2.5) range 12-23 yrs
Male	61 (48%)
Parent reported diagnosis of cognitive problems	
Yes	40 (34%)
Parent reported diagnosis of behavioural problems	
Yes	23 (20%)
Parent reported diagnosis of emotional problems	
Yes	26 (22%)
Current ASM use	
Yes	34 (27%)
Had seizures in past 5 years	
Yes	42 (33%)

Table 2: Family, Parent, and Child Clinical and Demographic Characteristics at Diagnosis (n=128)

Variable	At Diagnosis
	Mean (SD) OR N(%)
Family functioning	14.4 (3.9)
Family resources	52.8 (10.7)
Family demands	8.5 (5.6)
Parental depression	12.5 (9.5)
CES-D score ≥_16,	91 (71.1%)
CES-D score < 16,	36 (28.1%)
Married	109 (85%)
Family income	
Less than \$50,000	18 (13%)
\$50,000 - \$99,999	61 (50%)
\$100,000 - \$149,000	7 (5%)
\$150,000 or more	37 (31%)
Don't know	0 (0%)
Child's age	8 (2.5) range 4-12 yrs
Male	61(48%)
Severity of epilepsy	
Extremely severe	0 (0%)
Very severe	0 (0%)
Quite Severe	4 (3%)
Moderately severe	23 (19%)
Somewhat severe	23 (19%)
A little severe	50 (40%)
Not at all severe	24 (19%)
Type of seizure	
Generalized	52 (41%)
Focal	74 (59%)
Cognitive problems	
No	119 (93%)
Behavioural problems	
No	116 (91%)

At baseline, 41% of the sample were diagnosed with generalized seizures and 59% diagnosed with focal seizures. Only 7% of AYA were reported to have cognitive problems by a paediatric neurologist at baseline, similarly 9% of AYA were reported to have behavioural problems. Regarding epilepsy severity at baseline, only 3% of AYA epilepsy were classified as "quite severe", another 19% as "moderately severe", 19% as "somewhat severe", 40% as "little severe" and 19% as "not severe at all".

At the 10-year follow-up, 118 parents of the 128 AYA in our sample returned a completed questionnaire. These parents scored an average of 10.1 (SD=8.9) on the CES-D scale, with 20% scoring above the cut-off indicative of clinically significant depressive symptoms. Half (50%) of the families had an annual household income of \$100,000 or greater. Regarding marital status, 83% of parents were married.

4.4 Results for Objective 1

Anxiety symptom scores ranged from 20 to 70 with a mean of 37.08 and standard deviation of 13.52. In our sample, 32.8% of AYA were above the cut-off indicative of clinically significant anxiety symptoms. As a group, AYA scored similarly to the US population norms of individuals of the same age and sex; the mean of anxiety z-score was -0.086 (SD: 1.3, 95% CI: -0.31, 0.14).

4.5 Results for Objective 2

For Objective 2a, the results of the bivariate analyses (Table 3) of family characteristics at the 10-year follow-up with anxiety symptoms suggest that higher family functioning

(β= -0.78, 95% CI: -1.37, -0.18) was associated with fewer anxiety symptoms. Bivariate analysis of other covariates at the 10-year follow-up suggest that parents report of cognitive problems (β=7.87, 95% CI: 3.18, 12.5), and parents report of behavioural problems (β=7.4, 95% CI: 2.03, 12.9) were both associated with anxiety symptoms in AYA with epilepsy. Regarding clinical characteristics at the 10-year follow-up, having seizures in the past 5 years (β=8.30, 95% CI: 3.32, 13.25) was associated with clinically significant anxiety symptoms. The results of the multivariable analysis of characteristics at 10-year follow-up (Table 3) indicate that only 5-year seizure freedom was a significant, independent factor associated with anxiety symptoms (β=8.97, 95% CI: 2.11, 15.8). AYA who had not achieved seizure freedom for at least 5 years were significantly more likely to experience elevated anxiety symptoms compared to AYA who had been seizure free for at least 5 years.

Table 3: Bivariate and Multivariable Analyses of Anxiety Symptoms with Family, Parent, Child Clinical and Demographic Characteristics at 10-year Follow-up (n=128)

Bivariate Analysis

Multivariable Analysis

Variable	Coefficient (SE)	95% CI	Coefficient (SE)	95% CI
Child's age	0.52(0.50)	-0.41, 1.45		
Male	1.53(2.40)	-6.27, 3.22		
Family functioning	-0.78(0.30)	-1.37, -0.18**	-0.64(0.40)	-1.40, 0.13
Family resources	1.67(0.10)	-0.37, 0.04*	0.04(0.17)	-0.30, 0.37
Family demands	0.01(0.21)	-0.40, 0.43	-0.08(0.29)	-0.65, 0.48
Not married	0.44(3.21)	-5.91, 6.80		
Family income	8.00(5.00)	-17.81, 1.85		
Parental Depression	1.17(3.00)	-4.73, 7.06		
Had seizures in past 5 years	8.30(2.50)	3.32, 13.25 ***	8.97(3.43)	2.11 15.8**
Taking ASM	3.67(2.74)	-1.75, 9.10*	-4.2(3.63)	-11.41, 3.02
Parent-reported cognitive problems	7.87(2.36)	3.18, 12.51 ***	4.2(2.80)	-1.30, 15.80
Parent-reported behaviour problems	7.40(2.90)	2.03, 12.90 ***	3.21(3.40)	-3.50, 9.91
	1	1	1	1

^{*}p<0.2 **p<0.05 ***p<0.01

For objective 2b, the results of bivariate analysis (Table 4) suggest that higher family functioning at time of diagnosis (β =-0.71, 95% CI: -1.31, -0.11) was significantly associated with fewer anxiety symptoms 10 years after the AYA epilepsy diagnosis. However, when controlling for other characteristics using multivariable regression, there were no significant, independent characteristics from baseline that were associated with anxiety symptoms at the 10-year follow-up (Table 4).

4.2 Attrition Analysis

Table 5 presents the demographic, clinical and family characteristics of patients who completed follow-up (n=130) and those lost to follow-up (n=243). There were no significant differences in terms of age, gender, type of seizure and severity of epilepsy at baseline. However, patients lost to follow up were more likely to have cognitive and or behavioural problems at baseline. Regarding family characteristics, families lost to follow up were not significantly different in terms of family functioning and marital status at baseline. Parents who completed follow-up were more likely to report having better family resources, fewer family demands, higher family income and fewer depressive symptoms at baseline.

Table 4: Bivariate and Multivariable Analyses of Anxiety Symptoms with Family, Parent, Child Clinical and Demographic Characteristics at Diagnosis (n=128)

Bivariate Analysis

Multivariable Analysis

Variable	Coefficient (SE)	95% CI	Coefficient (SE)	95% CI
Child's age at diagnosis	0.52(0.50)	-0.41, 1.45*	-0.65(0.5)	-0.35, 1.64
Male	-1.53(2.40)	-6.27, 3.22		
Family functioning	-0.71(0.30)	-1.31, -0.11**	-0.62(0.43)	-1.50, 0.22
Family resources	0.17(0.21)	-0.40, 0.05*	0.09(0.17)	-0.24, 0.43
Family demands	-0.3(0.21)	-0.14, 0.71*	0.15(0.24)	-0.34, 0.62
Not married	-6.5(3.32)	-13.1, 0.06*	5.4(3.43)	-1.42, 12.17
Family income	-0.43(1.11)	-2.63, 1.78		
Parental depression	0.16(0.13)	-0.10,0.40		
Severity of epilepsy	1.17(3.0)	-4.73, 7.06		
Focal seizures	-2.45(2.42)	-7.24, 2.33		
Cognitive problems	-0.86(4.70)	-10.13, 8.44		
Behavioural problems	4.47(4.18)	-3.80, 12.74		

^{*}p<0.2 **p<0.05 ***p<0.01

Table 5: Attrition Analysis

Variable	Lost to follow-up (n=244)	Completed follow-up (n=128)	P-value
	Mean (SD) OR N(%)	Mean (SD) OR N(%)	
Child's age	7.9(3.4)	8(3.4)	0.63
Male	139(55%)	61(48%)	0.17
Family functioning	13.7 (3.7)	14.4(3.5)	0.11
Family resources	48.6(11.1)	52.8(10.7)	<0.001
Family demands	10(6.9)	8.5 (5.6)	0.04
Married	192(78%)	109(85%)	0.10
Family income Less than \$50,000	60(26%)	18(15%)	0.025
\$50,000 - \$99,999	111(49%)	61(49%)	0.025
\$100,000 - \$149,000	13(6%)	7(6%)	
\$150,000 or more	43(19%)	34(30%)	
Parental depression	15.2(10.6)	12.5(9.5)	0.015
Cognitive problems Yes	66 (93%)	9(7%)	<0.0001
Behaviour problems Yes	116(91%)	11(9%)	0.016
Severity of epilepsy	5.37(1.2)	5.54(1.1)	0.20
Seizure type Generalized	93(36%)	52(41%)	0.70
Focal	158(62%)	74(52%)	0.70

Chapter 5

Discussion

This chapter discusses the findings of this thesis. Section 5.1 provides a summary and interpretation of the findings for each objective within the context of the previous literature. Sections 5.2 and 5.3 discuss the strengths and limitations of this thesis, respectively. Section 5.4 proposes recommendations for future research, and section 5.5 summarizes the main implications and conclusions of the study findings.

5.1 Summary of Findings

This thesis aimed to: 1) describe anxiety symptoms of AYA with epilepsy 10 years, after their diagnosis in terms of the proportion with clinically significant anxiety symptoms and relative to the US population norm for same age and sex, and 2) assess the association between family factors and anxiety symptoms, while controlling for child and parent factors. To the best of our knowledge, this study is the first to evaluate anxiety symptoms among AYA in the long-term and assess associations between long-term anxiety and a comprehensive set of factors (family, parent, clinical and child).

5.1.1 Objective#1

The first objective of this thesis was to describe anxiety symptoms in a sample of AYA with epilepsy 10 years after their diagnosis of epilepsy. We found that 33% of AYA scored above the STAI-Y6 cut-off indicative of clinically significant levels of anxiety symptoms. When anxiety scores were compared to STAI-Y6 normative data from the US population of the same sex and similar ages, the mean score on anxiety symptoms was not statistically different. This means

that, while our sample of AYA 10 years after the diagnosis of epilepsy is similar to their age and sex counterparts in the US population *on average*, about one third of AYA with epilepsy were experiencing clinically significant levels of anxiety symptoms. The similarity in the levels of anxiety symptoms between our sample and the US population norms may be attributed to the long-term follow up of participants in our study that allowed time for the clinical status of epilepsy to stabilize and for adaptation by the patients and their families. Our finding is consistent with previous studies in the literature that have found that in the long-term, AYA with epilepsy and healthy controls report similar HRQoL[93][94][95].

About one third of AYA with epilepsy in our study reported symptoms at a level considered to be clinically significant which is consistent with multiple previous studies of AYA with epilepsy. One cross-sectional study reported a prevalence of 33% among those 5-16-years old[66] as assessed by the Multidimensional Anxiety Scale for Children (MASC). Similarly, another study reported a prevalence of 33% in a sample of youth 10-18 years old[4] using the HADS-A.

Our results are not consistent with all previous studies, however. Some studies have reported lower prevalence of anxiety symptoms among AYA with epilepsy compared to our study. One was a cross sectional study that assessed anxiety symptoms using the Revised Children's Manifest Anxiety Scale (RCMAS) and reported a prevalence of 16% among those 7-18-years old. In this study, the mean time since epilepsy diagnosis was 4.4 years and majority of participants had not experienced seizures in the months preceding evaluation. Another cross-sectional study that assessed anxiety symptoms using the RCMAS reported a prevalence of 23% among those 6-16-years old recruited from an outpatient neurology clinic. In this study, the

mean time since epilepsy diagnosis was 4.8 years and 80% of participant were considered to have well controlled seizures.

Other studies have reported higher prevalence than we found. In particular, a cross-sectional study reported a much higher prevalence of anxiety (48%) in youth 14-24-years old. This study recruited participants from specialized epilepsy clinics and anxiety symptomatology was assessed by clinical interviews shortly after the diagnosis of epilepsy.

There are a few possible explanations for the differences in prevalence of elevated anxiety symptoms among AYA with epilepsy across studies. One possible explanation concerns the measures used to assess anxiety symptoms in these studies. The three most frequently used measures, the Hospital and Depression Anxiety Scale (HADS-A), Beck Anxiety Inventory (BAI), and State and Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI) were each designed with unique specific goals: the HADS-A to measure anxiety and fear specifically in populations of medically ill patients; the BAI to capture somatic symptoms of anxiety and specifically discriminate between anxiety and depression, which often overlap; and the STAI-Y, which was used in our study, to capture the presence and severity of anxiety symptoms and propensity to be anxious for use in samples in the general population[80]. This variation in the basis for developing these measures may mean that they are not capturing exactly the same construct, which may mean that some of the differences in prevalence may be attributed to the differences in the measurement tools used rather than true differences in prevalence. The measure used in the two studies that reported the lowest prevalence of anxiety symptoms, the RCMAS, has been critiqued in the literature as measure that is sensitive to anxiety symptoms in children younger than twelve years of age but that underestimates the prevalence of anxiety symptoms in participants older

than 12 years of age[96][97]. This may explain the lower estimates of prevalence in studies that used the RCMAS.

A second potential explanation for the differences could be related to the length of time since epilepsy diagnosis when participants in the various studies were assessed. The study that reported a 16% prevalence had a mean time since epilepsy diagnosis of 4.4 years and a range of < 1-12 years[98]. Similarly, the study that reported a 23% prevalence had a mean time since epilepsy diagnosis of 4.8 years and a range of 1-15 years[63]. The study that reported a 48% prevalence assessed participants right after diagnosis, a time of great uncertainty for patients and their family as they learn to cope with the diagnosis[27]. In contrast, our study followed participants for a much longer period of time since diagnosis (participants were diagnosed about 10 years before the assessment of anxiety symptoms). The variability in the prevalence estimates for anxiety symptoms may be related to the heterogeneity in the length of time since epilepsy diagnosis of participants across studies, which in turn is likely to associated with variability in the achievement of seizure remission.

Another potential explanation for the variation in prevalence among studies concerns the sampling methods used to select participants and the studies' inclusion/exclusion criteria. The reported prevalence of psychiatric symptoms from specialized neurology clinics are often higher relative to samples from general medical practices[24]. Specialized neurology clinics tend to treat the most severe cases, hence participants selected from these clinics may be more likely to experience elevated anxiety symptoms. This aligns with the reported prevalence of anxiety symptoms described above, such that the highest prevalence (48%) focused on participants from a specialized epilepsy clinic[27]. In their study, 40% of AYA with epilepsy had

seizures in the previous 6 months compared to our study where two thirds of our sample had been seizure-free for 5 years or more. In sum, differences in prevalence may be explained by the inclusion and exclusion of study participants, measures used to assess anxiety symptoms and sampling methods.

5.1.2 Objective#2

The second objective of this thesis was to assess the association between anxiety symptoms 10-years after diagnosis with family characteristics, controlling for parent and child clinical and demographic characteristics. Specifically, it focused on characteristics at a) the 10-year follow-up and b) the time of diagnosis.

Our study found that family environment, specifically better family functioning, both at the 10-year follow-up and the time of diagnosis, was associated with fewer anxiety symptoms; however, neither of these associations remained statistically significant when controlling for parent and child characteristics. A possible explanation for this is that our sample had a generally positive family functioning both at diagnosis and the 10-year follow-up, which limited the variability in the measures of the family environment. This may have contributed to the lack of association between family functioning with anxiety symptoms. The findings also suggest that recent seizures may be a dominant factor that is associated with elevated anxiety symptoms among AYA with childhood-onset epilepsy. This finding is difficult to place in the context of what is known because past research that has evaluated the impact of family environment has focused on samples with ongoing seizures[27][51]. In contrast, the majority of AYA in our sample were seizure free. More so, previous studies that have considered the role of

family environment in contributing to psychiatric symptoms more generally, but none has focused on anxiety symptoms independently[20].

Neither of the other family factors, family resources and family demands assessed at the 10-year follow-up or at diagnosis, was associated with anxiety symptoms at the 10-year follow-up in AYA with epilepsy. A possible explanation for this is that there were significant differences in these variables at baseline between AYA lost to follow up and those who completed follow-up. Families lost to follow up had significantly fewer family resources and more family demands. Since the AYA at the 10-year follow-up were better off on these factors at baseline, this may have diluted the association that may have resulted if AYA with fewer family resources and more family demands at baseline were included in the analysis. Additionally, AYA lost to follow-up may be more likely to experience mental health problems such as anxiety symptoms and this may weaken any association found with our sample that completed follow-up.

In terms of clinical characteristics, our study found AYA who had been seizure-free for 5 or more years at follow-up reported fewer anxiety symptoms in the long-term, relative to AYA with continued seizures. This finding is consistent with previous studies that have investigated the association of seizure freedom with anxiety symptoms in AYA with epilepsy[56][99]. Kwon and Park found that young adults who attained seizure freedom were significantly less likely to experience anxiety symptoms compared to young adults who had not attained seizure freedom[56].

5.2 Strengths

This thesis has several strengths. To the best of our knowledge this is the first study to assess long-term anxiety symptoms in AYA with epilepsy. This study also assessed the association of anxiety symptoms in the long-term with family characteristics, controlling for parent and child clinical and demographic covariates. Data were collected prospectively at multiple time points, thereby reducing the risk of recall bias. This allowed for the opportunity to examine the clinical presentation of the epilepsy in the early stages and the family environment at diagnosis and their relationship to long-term anxiety symptoms. Data came from a population-based cohort study that included centres across Canada, providing results that are generalizable. Lastly, all measures used in this thesis are validated and reliable.

5.3 Limitations

There are some limitations to this study. Most AYA in our sample had relatively mild epilepsy; at time of diagnosis most children were rated as "little severe" (40%) or "not severe at all" (19%) (as indicated on the GASE), and at the 10-year follow-up, the majority of participants (67%) were seizure free for at least 5 years. Hence, the results may not be generalizable to AYA with more severe epilepsy. Additionally, children included in our cohort were diagnosed with epilepsy between the ages of 4 and 12 years, and the results may not generalize to children diagnosed with epilepsy earlier life, which is often associated with a more severe etiology[100]. The age range for inclusion in our study was chosen because validated measures to evaluate children's HRQOL were not available for children younger than 4 years, and the primary objective of the HERQULES study was to evaluate children's HRQOL over time. Another limitation concerns the significant differences in levels of family resources, family demands,

family income, and parental depressive symptoms between families that were lost to follow-up and those retained until the 10-year follow-up. Families lost to follow-up reported a poorer family environment (namely, fewer family resources, more family demands, lower family income, and greater parental depressive symptoms) at the time of diagnosis than those retained. AYA lost to follow-up also had more co-morbid problems at the time of their diagnosis of epilepsy. This means that the prevalence of anxiety problems at follow-up in our sample may be underestimated given the known associations between anxiety and these family and child characteristics.

Lastly, while the STAI-Y6 is a validated and reliable measure of anxiety symptoms, it is designed to capture transient arousal. Specifically, it assesses state anxiety symptoms, which captures transient anxiety symptoms rather than trait anxiety, which refers to longer lasting anxiety symptoms. While it may have been preferable to assess trait anxiety, it has been demonstrated that state and trait anxiety are highly correlated(r>0.90)[77][91] so it reasonable to assert that results would likely have been similar if trait anxiety had been measured instead of state anxiety.

5.4 Recommendation for Future Research

Future studies should examine anxiety symptoms beginning at the time of epilepsy diagnosis and prospectively assess anxiety over time. This would allow researchers to observe the trajectory of anxiety symptoms in AYA with epilepsy and provide an opportunity to better determine risk and protective factors.

Future research could also consider including a more heterogeneous sample, such as including AYA with more severe epilepsy, those who have undergone surgery to manage

epilepsy, and AYA with drug resistant epilepsy. This would generate a more comprehensive description of the experience of anxiety symptoms representative of the full population of AYA with childhood onset epilepsy. Continued research on medication, treatment, and management of AYA with epilepsy with the goal of seizure control and attainment of seizure freedom should be prioritized. Lastly, future studies should continue to investigate the impact of the family environment on AYA with epilepsy using samples where there is a wider range of variation in family environmental factors such as family functioning, family resources and family demands. It is also important to consider the impact that changes in family factors over time could have on long-term outcomes in childhood-onset epilepsy.

5.5 Implications and Conclusions

The findings from this study suggest that the experience of anxiety symptoms in AYA with epilepsy in the long-term after epilepsy diagnosis is comparable on average to the same sex and age counterparts in the US population. However, there is a subset of AYA with childhood-onset epilepsy, about one-third whose anxiety symptoms are worthy of attention. Health care professionals may consider educating parents on the prevalence and likelihood of anxiety symptoms in AYA with epilepsy and provide resources on the treatment and management of anxiety symptoms should they arise. Health care providers may also consider screening for anxiety symptoms in AYA with epilepsy as part of routine care and management. Although our study did not find family factors to be independently associated with anxiety symptom about 10 years after diagnosis, this finding does not downplay the importance and role of the family environment in contributing to psychopathology in AYA diagnosed with childhood epilepsy. More research is needed to uncover the roles of various family factors and

their relationship to anxiety and other psychiatric symptoms in AYA with epilepsy. The finding that seizure freedom is associated with long-term anxiety symptoms indicates that children with persistent uncontrolled seizures are at increased risk of anxiety symptoms. Although seizure freedom should be a priority in the management of AYA with epilepsy, achieving seizure freedom does not necessarily resolve the ubiquitous comorbidities experienced by AYA with epilepsy. Comprehensive care of AYA diagnosed with childhood epilepsy, including consideration of co-morbidities is important regardless of whether seizure freedom is attained.

References

- [1] S. Weinstein, "Seizures and epilepsy: An overview," *Epilepsy Intersect. Neurosci. Biol. Math. Eng. Phys.*, pp. 65–77, 2016.
- [2] A. N. Prasad, J. G. Burneo, and B. Corbett, "Epilepsy, comorbid conditions in Canadian children: Analysis of cross-sectional data from cycle 3 of the national longitudinal study of children and youth," *Seizure*, vol. 23, no. 10, pp. 869–873, 2014.
- [3] A. Y. Reid, A. Metcalfe, S. B. Patten, S. Wiebe, S. MacRodimitris, and N. Jetté, "Epilepsy is associated with unmet health care needs compared to the general population despite higher health resource utilization-A Canadian population-based study," *Epilepsia*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 291–300, 2012.
- [4] K. L. Kwong *et al.*, "Anxiety and Depression in Adolescents with Epilepsy," *J. Child Neurol.*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 203–210, 2016.
- [5] S. S. Behavior, A. Scicutella, and A. B. Ettinger, "Behavior," vol. 3, pp. 10–12, 2002.
- [6] O. Ekinci, J. B. Titus, A. A. Rodopman, M. Berkem, and E. Trevathan, "Depression and anxiety in children and adolescents with epilepsy: Prevalence, risk factors, and treatment," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 8–18, 2009.
- [7] M. Mula, "Treatment of anxiety disorders in epilepsy: An evidence-based approach," *Epilepsia*, vol. 54, no. SUPPL. 1, pp. 13–18, 2013.
- [8] M. Deković, J. M. A. M. Janssens, and N. M. C. Van As, "Family predictors of antisocial behavior in adolescence," *Fam. Process*, vol. 42, no. 2, pp. 223–235, 2003.
- [9] S. W. Goodwin, P. Wilk, M. Karen Campbell, and K. N. Speechley, "Emotional well-being in children with epilepsy: Family factors as mediators and moderators," *Epilepsia*, vol. 58, no. 11, pp. 1912–1919, 2017.
- [10] R. S. Fisher *et al.*, "ILAE Official Report: A practical clinical definition of epilepsy," *Epilepsia*, vol. 55, no. 4, pp. 475–482, 2014.
- [11] R. S. Fisher *et al.*, "Instruction manual for the ILAE 2017 operational classification of seizure types," *Epilepsia*, vol. 58, no. 4, pp. 531–542, 2017.
- [12] J. F. Tellez-Zenteno, M. Pondal-Sordo, S. Matijevic, and S. Wiebe, "National and regional prevalence of self-reported epilepsy in Canada," *Epilepsia*, vol. 45, no. 12, pp. 1623–1629, 2004.
- [13] W. H. Theodore *et al.*, "Epilepsy in North America a report prepared under the auspices of the Global Campaign against Epilepsy, the International Bureau for Epilepsy, the International League Against Epilepsy, and the World Health Organization," *Epilepsia*, vol.

- 47, no. 10, pp. 1700-1722, 2006.
- [14] A. N. Prasad, X. Sang, B. A. Corbett, and J. G. Burneo, "Prevalence of childhood epilepsy in Canada.," *Can. J. Neurol. Sci.*, vol. 38, no. 5, pp. 719–722, 2011.
- [15] R. Rodenburg, A. M. Meijer, M. Deković, and A. P. Aldenkamp, "Family factors and psychopathology in children with epilepsy: A literature review," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 488–503, 2005.
- [16] A. T. Berg, K. Rychlik, S. R. Levy, and F. M. Testa, "Complete remission of childhood-onset epilepsy: Stability and prediction over two decades," *Brain*, vol. 137, no. 12, pp. 3213–3222, 2014.
- [17] W. G. Mitchell, "Long-term prognosis for children with epilepsy," *Curr. Probl. Pediatr.*, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 113–120, 1995.
- [18] K. M. Aaberg *et al.*, "Short-term seizure outcomes in childhood epilepsy," *Pediatrics*, vol. 141, no. 6, 2018.
- [19] A. T. Berg *et al.*, "Determinants of social outcomes in adults with childhood-onset epilepsy," *Pediatrics*, vol. 137, no. 4, 2016.
- [20] R. Rodenburg, G. J. Stams, A. M. Meijer, A. P. Aldenkamp, and M. Deković, "Psychopathology in children with epilepsy: A meta-anlysis," *J. Pediatr. Psychol.*, vol. 30, no. 6, pp. 453–468, 2005.
- [21] J. Liu, X. Chen, and G. Lewis, "Childhood internalizing behaviour: Analysis and implications," *J. Psychiatr. Ment. Health Nurs.*, vol. 18, no. 10, pp. 884–894, 2011.
- [22] J. Liu, "Childhood externalizing behavior: Theory and implications," *J. Child Adolesc. Psychiatr. Nurs.*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 93–103, 2004.
- [23] B. Vazquez and O. Devinsky, "Epilepsy and anxiety," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 4, no. SUPPL. 4, pp. 20–25, 2003.
- [24] C. Reilly, R. Agnew, and B. G. R. Neville, "Depression and anxiety in childhood epilepsy: A review," *Seizure*, vol. 20, no. 8, pp. 589–597, 2011.
- [25] S. Cartwright-Hatton, K. McNicol, and E. Doubleday, "Anxiety in a neglected population: Prevalence of anxiety disorders in pre-adolescent children," *Clin. Psychol. Rev.*, vol. 26, no. 7, pp. 817–833, 2006.
- [26] F. V. A. Van Oort, K. Greaves-Lord, F. C. Verhulst, J. Ormel, and A. C. Huizink, "The developmental course of anxiety symptoms during adolescence: The TRAILS study," *J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry Allied Discip.*, vol. 50, no. 10, pp. 1209–1217, 2009.

- [27] R. H. Alwash, M. J. Hussein, and F. F. Matloub, "Symptoms of anxiety and depression among adolescents with seizures in Irbid, Northern Jordan," *Seizure*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 412–416, 2000.
- [28] M. Gandy *et al.*, "Anxiety in epilepsy: A neglected disorder," *J. Psychosom. Res.*, vol. 78, no. 2, pp. 149–155, 2015.
- [29] M. Rutter, J. Tizard, W. Yule, P. Graham, and K. Whitmore, "Isle of Wight Studies, 1964–1974," *Psychol. Med.*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 313–332, 1976.
- [30] S. A. Mensah, J. M. Beavis, A. K. Thapar, and M. P. Kerr, "A community study of the presence of anxiety disorder in people with epilepsy," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 118–124, 2007.
- [31] A. Maroufi, P. Khomand, S. Ahmadiani, N. S. Alizadeh, and F. Gharibi, "Prevalence and quality of anxiety in patients with epilepsy," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 32, pp. 34–37, 2014.
- [32] E. A. P. de Souza and P. C. B. Salgado, "A psychosocial view of anxiety and depression in epilepsy," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 232–238, 2006.
- [33] O. Baki, A. Erdogan, O. Kantarci, G. Akisik, L. Kayaalp, and C. Yalcinkaya, "Anxiety and depression in children with epilepsy and their mothers," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 5, no. 6, pp. 958–964, 2004.
- [34] S. A. Russ, K. Larson, and N. Halfon, "A national profile of childhood epilepsy and seizure disorder. (Report)," *Pediatrics*, vol. 129, no. 2, p. 256, 2012.
- [35] A. S. Avedisova, A. V. Lebedeva, E. V. Pashnin, G. V. Kustov, R. G. Akzhigitov, and A. B. Guekht, "Anxiety Disorders in Epilepsy," *Neurosci. Behav. Physiol.*, vol. 50, no. 1, 2020.
- [36] C. Adelöw, T. Andersson, A. Ahlbom, and T. Tomson, "Hospitalization for psychiatric disorders before and after onset of unprovoked seizures/epilepsy," *Neurology*, vol. 78, no. 6, pp. 396–401, 2012.
- [37] J. E. Jones *et al.*, "Psychiatric comorbidity in children with new onset epilepsy," *Dev. Med. Child Neurol.*, vol. 49, no. 7, pp. 493–497, 2007.
- [38] J. H. Cross, "Psychiatric comorbidity and behavior disorder in childhood epilepsy," *Dev. Med. Child Neurol.*, vol. 49, no. 7, p. 484, 2007.
- [39] D. C. Hesdorffer, L. Ishihara, L. Mynepalli, D. J. Webb, J. Weil, and W. A. Hauser, "Epilepsy, Suicidality, and Psychiatric Disorders: A Bidirectional Association," 2012.
- [40] J. C. Loney, E. C. Wirrell, E. M. S. Sherman, and L. D. Hamiwka, "Anxiety and Depressive Symptoms in Children Presenting With a First Seizure," *Pediatr. Neurol.*, vol. 39, no. 4, pp. 236–240, 2008.

- [41] N. Ellis, D. Upton, and P. Thompson, "Epilepsy and the family: A review of current literature," *Seizure*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 22–30, 2000.
- [42] R. Rodenburg, A. M. Meijer, M. Deković, and A. P. Aldenkamp, "Family predictors of psychopathology in children with epilepsy," *Epilepsia*, vol. 47, no. 3, pp. 601–614, 2006.
- [43] J. K. Austin, M. W. Risinger, and L. A. Beckett, "Correlates of behavior problems in children with epilepsy," *Epilepsia*, vol. 33, no. 6, p. 1115—1122, 1992.
- [44] A. L. Clarke and C. Critchley, "Impact of choice of coping strategies and family functioning on psychosocial function of young people with epilepsy," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 59, pp. 50–56, 2016.
- [45] L. C. Haber, J. K. Austin, G. R. Huster, K. A. Lane, and S. M. Perkins, "Relationships between differences in mother-father perceptions and self-concept and depression in children with epilepsy," *J. Fam. Nurs.*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 59–78, 2003.
- [46] R. C. Pianta and D. J. Lothman, "Predicting Behavior Problems in Children with Epilepsy: Child Factors, Disease Factors, Family Stress, and Child-Mother Interaction," *Child Dev.*, vol. 65, no. 5, pp. 1415–1428, 1994.
- [47] M. Hodes, M. E. Garralda, G. Rose, and R. Schwartz, "Maternal expressed emotion and adjustment in children with epilepsy," *J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry Allied Discip.*, vol. 40, no. 7, pp. 1083–1093, 1999.
- [48] M. A. Ferro and K. N. Speechley, "Depressive symptoms among mothers of children with epilepsy: A review of prevalence, associated factors, and impact on children," *Epilepsia*, vol. 50, no. 11, pp. 2344–2354, 2009.
- [49] C. P. Shore, J. K. Austin, and D. W. Dunn, "Maternal adaptation to a child's epilepsy," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 557–568, 2004.
- [50] S. H. Han, S. A. Lee, S. Eom, and H. D. Kim, "Family factors contributing to emotional and behavioral problems in Korean adolescents with epilepsy," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 56, pp. 66–72, 2016.
- [51] K. Puka, E. Widjaja, and M. Lou Smith, "The influence of patient, caregiver, and family factors on symptoms of anxiety and depression in children and adolescents with intractable epilepsy," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 67, pp. 45–50, 2017.
- [52] W. A. Schraegle and J. B. Titus, "The influence of endophenotypic, disease-specific, and environmental variables on the expression of anxiety in pediatric epilepsy," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 75, pp. 90–96, 2017.
- [53] D. W. Dunn, J. K. Austin, and G. A. Huster, "Symptoms of depression in adolescents with epilepsy," *J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry*, vol. 38, no. 9, pp. 1132–1138, 1999.

- [54] B. P. Hermann, S. Whitman, J. R. Hughes, M. M. Melyn, and J. Dell, "Multietiological determinants of psychopathology and social competence in children with epilepsy," *Epilepsy Res.*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 51–60, 1988.
- [55] J. A. Cramer, "Assessing the severity of seizures and epilepsy: Which scales are valid?," *Curr. Opin. Neurol.*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 225–229, 2001.
- [56] O. Y. Kwon and S. P. Park, "Frequency of affective symptoms and their psychosocial impact in Korean people with epilepsy: A survey at two tertiary care hospitals," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 51–56, 2013.
- [57] A. O. Adewuya and B. A. Ola, "Prevalence of and risk factors for anxiety and depressive disorders in Nigerian adolescents with epilepsy," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 342–347, 2005.
- [58] Anon, "Brief communications," Koks i Khimiya, no. 4, p. 53, 1999.
- [59] K. Hanssen-Bauer, S. Heyerdahl, and A. S. Eriksson, "Mental health problems in children and adolescents referred to a national epilepsy center," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 255–262, 2007.
- [60] L. S. Boylan, O. Devinsky, J. J. Barry, and T. A. Ketter, "Psychiatric uses of antiepileptic treatments," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 3, no. 5 SUPPL. 1, pp. 54–59, 2002.
- [61] S. Beyenburg, A. J. Mitchell, D. Schmidt, C. E. Elger, and M. Reuber, "Anxiety in patients with epilepsy: Systematic review and suggestions for clinical management," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 161–171, 2005.
- [62] F. Fatoye, K. S. Mosaku, M. Komolafe, and A. O. Adewuya, "Interictal anxiety and depression symptoms in Nigerians with epilepsy: A controlled study," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 312–316, 2006.
- [63] J. Williams *et al.*, "Anxiety in children with epilepsy," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 4, no. 6, pp. 729–732, 2003.
- [64] H. M. Munger Clary, B. M. Snively, and M. J. Hamberger, "Anxiety is common and independently associated with clinical features of epilepsy," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 85, pp. 64–71, 2018.
- [65] C. Reilly *et al.*, "Symptoms of anxiety and depression in school-aged children with active epilepsy: A population-based study," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 52, pp. 174–179, 2015.
- [66] R. Caplan, P. Siddarth, S. Gurbani, R. Hanson, R. Sankar, and W. D. Shields, "Depression and anxiety disorders in pediatric epilepsy," *Epilepsia*, vol. 46, no. 5, pp. 720–730, 2005.
- [67] M. H. J. Bekker and J. van Mens-Verhulst, "Anxiety Disorders: Sex Differences in

- Prevalence, Degree, and Background, But Gender-Neutral Treatment," *Gend. Med.*, vol. 4, no. SUPPL. 2, 2007.
- [68] H. J. Wang *et al.*, "Prevalence and risk factors of depression and anxiety among patients with convulsive epilepsy in rural West China," *Acta Neurol. Scand.*, vol. 138, no. 6, pp. 541–547, 2018.
- [69] S. Stefanello, L. Marín-Léon, P. T. Fernandes, L. M. Li, and N. J. Botega, "Depression and anxiety in a community sample with epilepsy in Brazil," *Arq. Neuropsiquiatr.*, vol. 69, no. 2b, pp. 342–348, 2011.
- [70] V. Gaus, H. Kiep, M. Holtkamp, S. Burkert, and F. Kendel, "Gender differences in depression, but not in anxiety in people with epilepsy," *Seizure*, vol. 32, pp. 37–42, 2015.
- [71] J. A. Cramer, N. Brandenburg, and X. Xu, "Differentiating anxiety and depression symptoms in patients with partial epilepsy," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 563–569, 2005.
- [72] R. K. Sharma, R. Sagar, K. K. Deepak, M. Mehta, Y. Pal, and S. Balhara, "original article," vol. 31, no. June, pp. 250–257, 2011.
- [73] L. Lampe and G. S. Malhi, "Avoidant personality disorder: current insights," *Psychol. Res. Behav. Manag.*, vol. 11, pp. 55–66, Mar. 2018.
- [74] D. A. Dillman, *Mail and Internet Surveys : The Tailored Design Method*. Hoboken, UNITED STATES: John Wiley & Sons, Incorporated, 2006.
- [75] D. A. Dillman, J. D. Smyth, and L. M. Christian, "Internet, mail, and mixed-mode questionnaires: The tailored design method." Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Inc, 2009.
- [76] T. M. Marteau and H. Bekker, "The development of a six-item short-form of the state scale of the Spielberger State—Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI)," *Br. J. Clin. Psychol.*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 301–306, 1992.
- [77] A. G. Hedberg, "Review of State-Trait Anxiety Inventory.," *Prof. Psychol.*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 389–390, 1972.
- [78] C. D. Spielberger and P. R. Vagg, "Psychometric Properties of the STAI: A Reply to Ramanaiah, Franzen, and Schill," *Journal of Personality Assessment*, vol. 48, no. 1. pp. 95–97, 1984.
- [79] A. Tluczek, J. B. Henriques, and R. L. Brown, "Support for the reliability and validity of a six-item state anxiety scale derived from the state-trait anxiety inventory," *J. Nurs. Meas.*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 19–28, 2009.
- [80] L. J. Julian, "Measures of anxiety: State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI), Beck Anxiety

- Inventory (BAI), and Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale-Anxiety (HADS-A)," *Arthritis Care Res.*, vol. 63, no. SUPPL. 11, pp. 467–472, 2011.
- [81] M. S. Wiglusz, J. Landowski, and W. J. Cubała, "Psychometric properties and diagnostic utility of the State—Trait Anxiety Inventory in epilepsy with and without comorbid anxiety disorder," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 92, pp. 221–225, 2019.
- [82] J. Chao, S. Zyzanski, and S. Flocke, "Choosing a family level indicator of family function.," Fam. Syst. Heal., vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 367–373, 1998.
- [83] J. A. Bellón Saameño, A. Delgado Sánchez, J. D. Luna del Castillo, and P. Lardelli Claret, "Validity and reliability of the family Apgar family function test," *Aten. Primaria*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 289–296, 1996.
- [84] J. K. Austin and T. J. Huberty, "Revision of the family APGAR for use by 8-year-olds," Fam. Syst. Med., vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 323–327, 1989.
- [85] H. I. McCubbin, A. I. Thompson, and M. A. McCubbin, *Family assessment : resiliency, coping and adaptation : inventories for research and practice*. Madison, Wis.: University of Wisconsin Publishers, 1996.
- [86] C. Scale, "The CES-D Scale: A Self-Report Depression Scale for Research in the General Population."
- [87] C. J. Chan, G. Zou, S. Wiebe, and K. N. Speechley, "Global assessment of the severity of epilepsy (GASE) Scale in children: Validity, reliability, responsiveness," *Epilepsia*, vol. 56, no. 12, pp. 1950–1956, 2015.
- [88] K. N. Speechley *et al.*, "Assessing severity of epilepsy in children: Preliminary evidence of validity and reliability of a single-item scale," *Epilepsy Behav.*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 337–342, 2008.
- [89] ILAE, "Commission on classification and terminology of the International League Against Epilepsy: proposal for revised classification of epilepsies and epileptic syndromes," *Epilepsia*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 389–399, 1989.
- [90] "SAS Institute Inc.,SAS / SHARE 9 . 4 : User's Guide, Second Edition," 2016.
- [91] C. D. Spielberger, R. L. Gorsuch, R. Lushene, V. P.R., and G. A. Jacobs, "State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Adults: Self-Evaluation Questionnaire," pp. 0–75, 1983.
- [92] G. Maldonado, "Simulation Study of Confounder-Selection Strategies," vol. 138, no. 11, 1993.
- [93] C. B. Baca, B. G. Vickrey, R. Caplan, S. D. Vassar, and A. T. Berg, "Psychiatric and medical comorbidity and quality of life outcomes in childhood-onset epilepsy," *Pediatrics*, vol.

- 128, no. 6, 2011.
- [94] R. Friefeld Kesselmayer, T. McMillan, B. Lee, D. Almane, B. P. Hermann, and J. E. Jones, "Psychosocial and functional outcomes in young adults with childhood-onset epilepsy: a 10-year follow-up," *Dev. Med. Child Neurol.*, vol. 62, no. 5, pp. 587–592, 2020.
- [95] M. Sillanpää, L. Haataja, and S. Shinnar, "Perceived impact of childhood-onset epilepsy on quality of life as an adult," *Epilepsia*, vol. 45, no. 8, pp. 971–977, 2004.
- [96] L. D. Seligman, T. H. Ollendick, A. K. Langley, and H. B. Baldacci, "The utility of measures of child and adolescent anxiety: A meta-analytic review of the Revised Children's Manifest Anxiety Scale, the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children, and the Child Behavior Checklist," J. Clin. Child Adolesc. Psychol., vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 557–565, 2004.
- [97] A. A. Pina, W. K. Silverman, L. M. Saavedra, and C. F. Weems, "An analysis of the RCMAS lie scale in a clinic sample of anxious children," *J. Anxiety Disord.*, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 443–457, 2001.
- [98] A. B. Ettinger *et al.*, "Symptoms of depression and anxiety in pediatric epilepsy patients," *Epilepsia*, vol. 39, no. 6, pp. 595–599, 1998.
- [99] M. T. Tegegne, T. B. Mossie, A. A. Awoke, A. M. Assaye, B. T. Gebrie, and D. A. Eshetu, "Depression and anxiety disorder among epileptic people at Amanuel Specialized Mental Hospital, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia," *BMC Psychiatry*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 1–7, 2015.
- [100] A. T. Berg, F. A. Zelko, S. R. Levy, and F. M. Testa, "Age at onset of epilepsy, pharmacoresistance, and cognitive outcomes," *Neurology*, vol. 79, no. 13, pp. 1384 LP 1391, Sep. 2012.

Appendix A: Physician Form

Patient's Date of Birth (dd/mm/yy):	Site #:
v 01	used on information from this patient's most turn upon completion
Date of patient's last visit (dd/mm/yy): (dd/mm/yy)	or Date of Telephone F/U
2. Date form completed (dd/mm/yy):	
If information for 3 thru 7 is unchanged from ba	seline (diagnosis) visit, please check here
3. Seizure type(s): 1)	2)
3)	4)
4. Epilepsy syndrome:	
5. Convulsive status epilepticus: No Yes	
6. Exclusive nocturnal seizures: No Yes	
7. Age of first seizure (excluding febrile seizure):_	
8. Does this patient have any family with epilepsy? No Yes	
9. Number of AEDs <u>currently</u> :	
10. Number of AEDs <u>total:</u>	
11. Is this patient of school age? ☐ No ☐ Vos → Grado: ☐ regular of	lace
☐ res → Grade ☐ regular ci	ass 🗌 regular class with resource 🔲 special class

12. Does the patient have behavioural problems? □ No (normal)						
☐ Yes → Please check one: ☐ mild ☐ n	nodera	ite 🗌	seve	re		
Dia	agnosis	s:				_
 13. Does the patient have cognitive problems? ☐ No (normal) ☐ Yes → Please check one: ☐ borderline [mil	d 🗆	mode	rate [seve	ere
Di	agnosis	s:				
14. Does this patient have motor problems?						
NoYes → Please checkone: mild moe	oderat	☐ se	vere			
Di	agnosis	s:				
15. Other neurological deficits? Please specify:						
16. <u>Taking into account</u> all aspects of this patient's epilepsy, how at his/her last visit? Please check <u>one</u> answer.	v would	d you r	ate its	severit	у	
Extremely severe Very severe Quite severe Moderately severe Somewhat severe A little severe Not at all severe						
17. Rate the following aspects of this patient's epilepsy at his/ho	er last	visit.				
Check one box using the following 7-point scale:						
1 = none or never						
7 = extremely frequent, <u>severe</u> or high						
	1	2	3	4	5	6

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Frequency of seizures							
Intensity of seizures							
Falls or injuries during seizures							
Severity of post-ictal period							
Amount of antiepileptic drugs							
Side effects of antiepileptic drugs							
Interference of epilepsy or drugs with daily activities							

Appendix B: AYA Report Measurement Tool

Spielberger State-Trait Anxiety Inventory short-form (STAI: Y-6)

A number of statements which people have used to describe themselves are given below. Read each statement and then circle the most appropriate number to the right of the statement to indicate how you feel right now, at this moment. There are no right or wrong answers. Do not spend too much time on any one statement but give the answer which seems to describe your present feelings best.

Not at	all	Somewhat	Moderately	Very much
a) I feel calm	1	2	3	4
b) I am tense	1	2	3	4
c) I feel upset	1	2	3	4
d) I am relaxed	1	2	3	4
e) I feel content	1	2	3	4
f) I am worried	1	2	3	4

Appendix C: Parent Report Measurement Tools

<u>Family Inventory of Resources for Management (FIRM): Family Strength: Mastery and Health and Extended Family Support Subscales</u>

The next set of questions asks about what social, psychological, community and financial resources families believe they have available to them in the management of family life. To complete this inventory you are asked to read the list of "Family Statements" one at a time. In each statement, "family" means your immediate family (mother and/or father and children.) Then ask yourself: "How well does the statement describe our family situation?"

Then make your decision by circling one of the following:

0 = Not At All	This statement does not describe our family situation. This
	does not happen in our family.
1 = Minimally	This statement describes our family situation only slightly. Our family may be like this once in a while.
2 = Moderately	This statement describes our family situation fairly well. Our family is like this some of the time.
3 = Very Well	This statement describes our family very accurately. Our family is like this most of the time.

Please read and record your decision for each of the statements below.

Family Statements:	Not at all	Minimally	Moderately	Very Well
a. Being physically tired much of the time is a problem in our family	0	1	2	3
b. We have to nag each other to get things done	0	1	2	3
c. We do not plan too far ahead because many things turn out to be a matter of good or bad luck anyway	0	1	2	3
d. Having only one person in the family earning money is (or would be) a problem in our family	0	1	2	3
e. It seems that members of our family take each other for granted	0	1	2	3
f. Sometimes we feel we don't have enough control over the direction our lives are taking	0	1	2	3
g. Certain members of our family do all the giving, while others do all the taking	0	1	2	3
h. We seem to put off making decisions	0	1	2	3
i. Our family is under a lot of emotional stress	0	1	2	3
j. Many things seem to interfere with family members being able to share concerns	0	1	2	3

k. Most of the money decisions are made by only one person in our family	0	1	2	3
I. It seems that we have more illness (colds, flu, etc.) in our family than other people do	0	1	2	3

_			
0	1	2	3
0	1	2	3
0	1	2	3
0	1	2	3
0	1	2	3
0	1	2	3
0	1	2	3
0	1	2	3
0	1	2	3
0	1	2	3
0	1	2	3
0	1	2	3
	0 0 0 0 0 0	0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1	0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2 0 1 2

Family Inventory of Life Events & Changes (FILE)

Over their life cycle, all families experience many changes as a result of normal growth and development of members and due to external circumstances. The following list of family life changes can happen in a family at any time. Because family members are connected to each other in some way, a life change for any one member affects all the other persons in the family to some degree.

"FAMILY" means a group of two or more persons living together who are related by blood, marriage or adoption. This includes persons who live with you and to whom you have a long term commitment.

Please read each family life change and decide whether it happened to any member of your family - **including you** - during the past 12 months and check **Yes** or **No**.

		During the last 12 months		
Did the change happen in your family:	Yes	No	Score	
I. Intrafamily Strains				
a. Increase of husband/father's time away from family			46	
b. Increase of wife/mother's time away from family			51	
c. A member appears to have emotional problems			58	
d. A member appears to depend on alcohol or drugs			66	
e. Increase in conflict between husband and wife			53	
f. Increase in arguments between parent(s) and child(ren)			45	
g. Increase in conflict among children in the family			48	
h. Increased difficulty in managing teenage child(ren)			55	
i. Increased difficulty in managing school age child(ren) (6-12 yrs)			39	
j. Increased difficulty in managing preschool age child(ren) (2.5-6 yrs)			36	
k. Increased difficulty in managing toddler(s) (1-2.5 yrs)			36	
I. Increased difficulty in managing infant(s) (0-1 yr)			35	
m. Increase in the amount of "outside activities" which the children are involved in			25	
n. Increased disagreement about a member's friends or activities			35	
o. Increase in the number of problems or issues which don't get resolved			45	
p. Increase in the number of tasks or chores which don't get done			35	
q. Increased conflict with in-laws or relatives			40	
II. Marital Strains				
a. Spouse/parent was separated or divorced			79	
b. Spouse/parent had an "affair"			68	
c. Increased difficulty in resolving issues with a "former" or separated spouse			47	
d. Increased difficulty with sexual relationship between husband and wife			58	

			1
	Durir	g the	
		: 12	
	mo	nths	
Did the change happen in your family:	Yes	No	Score
III. Pregnancy and Childbearing Strains			
a. Spouse had unwanted or difficulty pregnancy			45
b. An unmarried member became pregnant			65
c. A member had an abortion			50
d. A member gave birth to or adopted a child			50
IV. Finance and Business Strains			
a. Took out a loan or refinanced a loan to cover increased expenses			29
b. Went on welfare			55
c. Change in conditions (economic, political, weather) which hurts the family investments			41
d. Change in agriculture market, stock market, or land values which			42
hurts family investments and/or income			43
e. A member started a new business			50
f. Purchased or built a home			41
g. A member purchased a car or other major item			19
h. Increased financial debts due to over-use of credit cards			31
i. Increased strain on family "money" for medical/dental expenses			23
j. Increased strain on family "money" for food, clothing, energy, home			
care			21
k. Increased strain on family "money" for child(ren)'s education			22
I. Delay in receiving child support or alimony payments			41
V. Work-Family Transitions and Strains			
a. A member changed to a new job/career			40
b. A member lost or quit a job			55
c. A member retired from work			48
d. A member started or returned to work			41
e. A member stopped working for extended period (e.g., laid off, leave			51
of absence, strike)			
f. Decrease in satisfaction with job/career			45
g. A member had increased difficulty with people at work			32
h. A member was promoted at work or given more responsibilities			40
i. Family moved to a new home/apartment			43
j. A child/adolescent member changed to a new school			24
VI. Illness and Family "Care" Strains			
a. Parent/spouse became seriously ill or injured			44
b. Child became seriously ill or injured			35
c. Close relative or friend of the family became seriously ill			44
d. A member became physically disabled or chronically ill			73

	During the last 12 months		
Did the change happen in your family:	Yes	No	Score
e. Increased difficulty in managing a chronically ill or disabled member			58
f. Member or close relative was committed to an institution or nursing home			44
g. Increased responsibility to provide direct care or financial help to husband's and/or wife's parents			47
h. Experienced difficulty in arranging for satisfactory child care			40
VII. Losses			
a. A parent/spouse died			98
b. A child member died			99
c. Death of husband's or wife's parent or close relative			48
d. Close friend of the family died			47
e. Married son or daughter was separated or divorced			58
f. A member "broke up" a relationship with a close friend			35
VIII. Transitions "In and Out"			
a. A member was married			42
b. Young adult member left home			43
c. Young adult member began college (or post high school training)			28
d. A member moved back home or a new person moved into the household			42
e. A parent/spouse started school (or training program) after being away from school for a long time			38
IX. Family Legal Violations			
a. A member went to jail or juvenile detention			68
b. A member was picked up by police or arrested			57
c. A member ran away from home			61
d. A member dropped out of school or was suspended from school			38

Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CES-D)

Now we'd like to ask some questions about you. Please read these sentences that say something about how people sometimes feel and circle the number of the category on this page that best indicates how often you have felt this way in the past 7 days.

- 0. Rarely or none of the time (less than one day)
- 1. Some or a little of the time (1-2 days)
- 2. Occasionally or a moderate amount of time (3-4 days)
- 3. Most or all of the time (5-7 days)

During the past seven days:				
a) I was bothered by things that usually don't bother me.	0	1	2	3
b) I did not feel like eating; my appetite was poor.	0	1	2	3
c) I felt that I could not shake off the blues even with help from my family or friends.	0	1	2	3
d) I felt that I was just as good as other people.	0	1	2	3
e) I had trouble keeping my mind on what I was doing.	0	1	2	3
f) I felt depressed.	0	1	2	3
g) I felt that everything I did was an effort.	0	1	2	3
h) I felt hopeful about the future.	0	1	2	3
i) I thought my life had been a failure.	0	1	2	3
j) I felt fearful.	0	1	2	3
k) My sleep was restless.	0	1	2	3
l) I was happy.	0	1	2	3
m) I talked less than usual.	0	1	2	3
n) I felt lonely.	0	1	2	3
o) People were unfriendly.	0	1	2	3
p) I enjoyed life.	0	1	2	3
q) I had crying spells.	0	1	2	3
r) I felt sad.	0	1	2	3
s) I felt that people dislike me.	0	1	2	3
t) I could not get "going".	0	1	2	3

Appendix D: Research Ethics Approval



Research Ethics

Western University Health Science Research Ethics Board HSREB Amendment Approval Notice

Principal Investigator: Dr. Kathy Speechley

Department & Institution: Schulich School of Medicine and Dentistry/Epidemiology & Biostatistics, Western University

Review Type: Expedited HSREB File Number: 102819

Study Title: Health-related quality of Life in children with New-Onset Epilepsy: A Long-term Follow-up

Sponsor: Canadian Institutes of Health Research

HSREB Amendment Approval Date: September 14, 2015

HSREB Expiry Date: September 06, 2016

Documents Approved and/or Received for Information:

Document Name	Comments	Version Date
Change in Study Personnel	Incoming Research Assistants (S. Brar & A. Dasiewicz)	2015/08/27
Revised Western University Protocol		2015/08/27
Other	Cover Letter: Time 6 Parent Questionnaire	2015/08/19
Instruments	Time 6 Parent Questionnaire	2015/08/27
Other	Cover Letter: Time 6 Youth 11-17 Questionnaire	2015/08/19
Instruments	Time 6 Youth 11-17 Questionnaire	2015/08/27
Other	Cover Letter: Time 6 Youth 18+ Questionnaire	2015/08/17
Instruments	Time 6 Youth 18+ Questionnaire	2015/08/27
Other	Email/Cover Letter: Time 6 Youth 18+ Questionnaire	2015/08/19
Other	Email/Cover Letter: Time 6 Youth 11-17 Questionnaire	2015/08/19

The Western University Health Science Research Ethics Board (HSREB) has reviewed and approved the amendment to the above named study, as of the HSREB Initial Approval Date noted above.

HSREB approval for this study remains valid until the HSREB Expiry Date noted above, conditional to timely submission and acceptance of HSREB Continuing Ethics Review.

The Western University HSREB operates in compliance with the Tri-Council Policy Statement Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS2), the International Conference on Harmonization of Technical Requirements for Registration of Pharmaceuticals for Human Use Guideline for Good Clinical Practice Practices (ICH E6 R1), the Ontario Personal Health Information Protection Act (PHIPA, 2004), Part 4 of the Natural Health Product Regulations, Health Canada Medical Device Regulations and Part C, Division 5, of the Food and Drug Regulations of Health Canada.

Members of the HSREB who are named as Investigators in research studies do not participate in discussions related to, nor vote on such studies when they are presented to the REB.

The HSREB is registered with the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services under the IRB registration number IRB 00000940.

Ethics Pricer, on Behalf of Dr. Joseph Gilbert, HSREB Chair

Ethics Officer to Contact for Further Information



This is an official document. Please retain the original in your files.

Curriculum Vitae

Name: Onyebuchi C. Omodon

Post-secondaryWestern UniversityEducation andLondon, Ontario, CanadaDegrees:2018-2021 MSc. (Candidate)

Western University London, Ontario, Canada 2014-2018 BHSc. (Honours)

Honours and Department **Awards:** Western Gra

Department of Epidemiology & Biostatistics Western Graduate Research Scholarship 2018-2020

Western University
Western University Dean's Honour List
2017, 2018

Western University Excellence Scholarship 2014-2015

Related Work Experience Research Assistant Western University 2018-2020